Page 1 of 80

49

Office of the City Manager

ACTION CALENDAR
July 25, 2017
To:

Honorable Mayor and Members of the City Council

From:

Dee Williams-Ridley, City Manager

Submitted by: Henry Oyekanmi, Director, Finance Department
Subject:

Borrowing of Funds and the Sale and Issuance of FY 2018 Tax and
Revenue Anticipation Notes

RECOMMENDATION
Adopt a Resolution approving the borrowing of $26,000,000 and the sale and issuance
of Fiscal Year 2018 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes.
FISCAL IMPACTS OF RECOMMENDATION
Each year, the City (as do many local agencies) issues Tax and Revenue Anticipation
Notes (the “Notes”) to help the City with its working capital needs during the first six
months of the fiscal year. The reason for this issuance is that the City does not receive
property tax revenues until December, thereby creating a negative cash flow in the
General Fund. This annual issuance also enables the General Fund to recoup some of
the interest earnings lost in advancing money to grant funds pending grant
reimbursements, since the interest rate earned on any note proceeds invested will exceed
the cost of borrowing.
The City’s General Fund cash flow has become more volatile due to (1) The City now
receives property tax in December and April; and (2) also receives the payment of Vehicle
In Lieu fees in December and May with the property taxes, instead of monthly.
The money will be deposited in the General Fund and used by the City for any purpose
for which it is authorized to expend General Fund monies. The interest earned on these
monies will be allocated to the General Fund. The repayment of principal and interest on
the Notes are to be made from General Fund taxes and other revenues.
CURRENT SITUATION AND ITS EFFECTS
The General Fund advances grant funds in the amounts needed to pay for their
expenditures, until these funds receive reimbursement from the granting agencies. During
the first six months of the fiscal year until property tax receipts are received, General Fund
operating expenditures exceed revenues. Under the interpretation of Sections 5385053858 of the California Government Code and federal tax law by the City’s Bond Counsel,
Jones Hall, the City may borrow an amount not to exceed the maximum anticipated cash
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flow deficit plus five percent of working capital reserve if all the note proceeds, including
investment earnings, are deemed spent within 6 months of the date of the issue of the
Notes. This method of financing involves the sale of the Notes and is a traditional means
used by local governments to ensure a consistent cash flow during the fiscal year. This
year the City will borrow Note funds of $26,000,000 to help with working capital needs in
the first six months of the fiscal year and, when expenditures exceed incoming revenues.
In the last six months of the fiscal year, the Notes will be repaid from General Fund taxes
and other revenues, mainly property taxes and business license taxes.
For Fiscal Year 2018, the City will require a Note sale of an amount not to exceed Twenty
Six million dollars ($26,000,000). The interest rate on the Notes will depend on
competitive rates at the time of the sale.
DISCLOSURE
The attached Preliminary Official Statement has been reviewed and approved for
transmittal to the City Council by the City’s financing team. The distribution of the
Preliminary Official Statement by the City is subject to federal securities laws, including
the Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. These laws require
the Preliminary Official Statement to include all facts that would be material to an investor
in the Notes. Material information is information that there is a substantial likelihood would
have actual significance in the deliberations of the reasonable investor when deciding
whether to buy or sell the Notes. If the City Council concludes that the Preliminary Official
Statement includes all facts that would be material to an investor in the Notes, it must
adopt a resolution that authorizes staff to execute a certificate to the effect that the
Preliminary Official Statement has been “deemed final.”
The Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the agency with regulatory
authority over the City’s compliance with the federal securities laws, has issued guidance
as to the duties of the City Council with respect to its approval of the Preliminary Official
Statement. In its “Report of Investigation in the Matter of County of Orange, California as
it Relates to the Conduct of the Members of the Board of Supervisors” (Release No.
36761 / January 24, 1996) (the “Release”), the SEC indicated that, if a member of the
City Council has knowledge of any facts or circumstances that an investor would want to
know about prior to investing in the Notes, whether relating to their repayment, tax-exempt
status, undisclosed conflicts of interest with interested parties, or otherwise, he or she
should endeavor to discover whether such facts are adequately disclosed in the
Preliminary Official Statement. In the Release, the SEC indicated that the steps that a
member of the City Council could take include becoming familiar with the Preliminary
Official Statement and questioning staff and consultants about the disclosure of such
facts.
The information about the sources of payment for the Notes, including the City’s financial
and operating data, is set forth in the sections of the Preliminary Official Statement entitled
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“SECURITY FOR AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT FOR THE NOTES” and “APPENDIX
A - CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY OF BERKELEY.”
The information about the tax-exempt status of the Notes is set forth in the section of the
Preliminary Official Statement entitled “TAX MATTERS.”
RATIONALE FOR RECOMMENDATION
The General Fund advances grant funds the amounts needed to pay for their
expenditures, until these funds receive reimbursement from the granting agencies. During
the first six months of the fiscal year, General Fund operating expenditures exceed
revenues. As a result, the General Fund’s working capital is depleted during this period,
and borrowing these funds will alleviate that situation.
ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY
There are no identifiable environmental effects or opportunities associated with the
subject of this report.
CONTACT PERSON
Henry Oyekanmi, Director of Finance, Finance Department, 981-7301
Attachments:
1: Resolution
2: Draft Form of Official Notice of Sale
3: Form of Bond Counsel Opinion
4. Form of the Preliminary Official Statement
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RESOLUTION NO. _________-N.S.
APPROVING THE BORROWING OF FUNDS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2017-18 AND THE
ISSUANCE AND SALE OF 2017-18 TAX AND REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES
WHEREAS, pursuant to Article 7.6 (commencing with section 53850) of Chapter 4 of
Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the California Government Code (the “Law”), this City Council
(the “Council”) has found and determined that moneys are needed for the requirements of the
City, a municipal corporation and charter city duly organized and existing under the laws of the
State of California, to satisfy obligations payable from the General Fund of the City (the
“General Fund”), and that it is necessary that said sum be borrowed for such purpose at this
time by the issuance of temporary notes therefor in anticipation of the receipt of taxes, income,
revenue, cash receipts and other moneys to be received by the City for the General Fund during
or allocable to the fiscal year of the City beginning July 1, 2017 and ending June 30, 2018
(“Fiscal Year 2017-18”); and
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Council of the City of Berkeley
approves the following:
Section 1. Limitation on Maximum Amount. The principal amount of notes issued
pursuant hereto, when added to the interest payable thereon, shall not exceed eighty-five
percent (85%) of the estimated amount of the uncollected taxes, income, revenue, cash receipts
and other moneys of the City for the General Fund attributable to Fiscal Year 2017-18, and
available for the payment of said notes and the interest thereon (as hereinafter provided).
Section 2. Authorization and Terms of Notes. Solely for the purpose of anticipating
taxes, income, revenue, cash receipts and other moneys to be received by the City for the
General Fund during or allocable to Fiscal Year 2017-18, and not pursuant to any common plan
of financing, the City hereby determines to and shall borrow the principal amount of not-toexceed Twenty Six Million Dollars ($26,000,000) by the issuance of temporary notes under the
Law, designated “City of Berkeley, California 2017-18 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes” (the
“Notes”). The Notes shall be dated the date of initial delivery, shall mature (without option of
prior redemption) no later than thirteen months after their date of issuance, and shall bear
interest, payable at maturity and computed on a 30-day month/360-day year basis, at a rate not
in excess of five percent (5%) per annum. Both the principal of and interest on the Notes shall
be payable in lawful money of the United States of America, as described below.
Section 3. Form of Notes; Book Entry Only System. The Notes shall be issued in fully
registered form, without coupons, and shall be substantially in the form and substance set forth
in Exhibit A attached hereto and by reference incorporated herein, the blanks in said form to be
filled in with appropriate words and figures. The Notes shall be numbered from 1 consecutively
upward in order of issuance, shall be in the denomination of $5,000 each or any integral multiple
thereof.
“CUSIP” identification numbers shall be imprinted on the Notes, but such numbers shall
not constitute a part of the contract evidenced by the Notes and any error or omission with
respect thereto shall not constitute cause for refusal of any purchaser to accept delivery of and
pay for the Notes. In addition, failure on the part of the City to use such CUSIP numbers in any

1

Page 5 of 80

notice to the registered owners of the Notes shall not constitute an event of default or any
violation of the City’s contract with such owners and shall not impair the effectiveness of any
such notice.
Except as provided below, the owner of all of the Notes shall be The Depository Trust
Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), and the Notes shall be registered in the name of Cede
& Co., as nominee for DTC. The Notes shall be initially executed and delivered in the form of a
single fully registered Note in the full aggregate principal amount of the Notes. The City may
treat DTC (or its nominee) as the sole and exclusive owner of the Notes registered in its name
for all purposes of this Resolution, and the City shall not be affected by any notice to the
contrary. The City shall not have any responsibility or obligation to any participant of DTC (a
“Participant”), any person claiming a beneficial ownership interest in the Notes under or through
DTC or a Participant (a “Beneficial Owner”), or any other person not shown on the register of
the City as being an owner, with respect to the accuracy of any records maintained by DTC or
any Participant or the payment by DTC or any Participant by DTC or any Participant of any
amount in respect of the principal or interest with respect to the Notes. The City shall pay all
principal and interest with respect to the Notes only to DTC or its nominee, and all such
payments shall be valid and effective to fully satisfy and discharge the City’s obligations with
respect to the principal and interest with respect to the Notes to the extent of the sum or sums
so paid. Except under the conditions noted below, no person other than DTC shall receive a
Note. Upon delivery by DTC to the City of written notice to the effect that DTC has determined
to substitute a new nominee in place of Cede & Co., the term “Cede & Co.” in this Resolution
shall refer to such new nominee of DTC.
If the City determines that it is in the best interest of the Beneficial Owners that they be
able to obtain Notes and delivers a written certificate to DTC to that effect, DTC shall notify the
Participants of the availability through DTC of Notes. In such event, the City shall issue, transfer
and exchange Notes as requested by DTC and any other owners in appropriate amounts. DTC
may determine to discontinue providing its services with respect to the Notes at any time by
giving notice to the City and discharging its responsibilities with respect thereto under applicable
law. Under such circumstances (if there is no successor securities depository), the City shall be
obligated to deliver Notes to the Beneficial Owners as described in this Resolution. Whenever
DTC requests the City to do so, the City will cooperate with DTC in taking appropriate action
after reasonable notice to (a) make available one or more separate Notes evidencing the Notes
to any DTC Participant having Notes credited to its DTC account or (b) arrange for another
securities depository to maintain custody of Certificates evidencing the Notes.
Notwithstanding any other provision of this Resolution to the contrary, so long as any
Note is registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all payments with respect to
the principal and interest with respect to such Note and all notices with respect to such Note
shall be made and given, respectively, to DTC as provided as in the representation letter
delivered on the date of issuance of the Notes.
Section 4. Use of Proceeds. The proceeds of the sale of the Notes shall be deposited in
a segregated account in the General Fund and used and expended by the City for any purpose
for which it is authorized to expend funds from the General Fund.
Section 5. Security. The principal amount of the Notes, together with the interest
thereon, shall be payable from taxes, income, revenue, cash receipts and other moneys which
are received by the City for the General Fund for Fiscal Year 2017-18. As security for the
payment of the principal of and interest on the Notes the City hereby pledges the first
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“unrestricted moneys” (as hereinafter defined) to be received by the City as follows: (a) an
amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the principal amount of the Notes in the month of
January, 2018; (b) an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the principal amount of the Notes in
the month of May, 2018; and (c) an amount sufficient to pay interest as due on the Notes at their
maturity, in the month of July, 2018 (such pledged amounts being hereinafter called the
“Pledged Revenues”). The principal of the Notes and the interest thereon shall constitute a first
lien and charge thereon and shall be payable from the Pledged Revenues. To the extent not so
paid from the Pledged Revenues, the Notes shall be paid from any other moneys of the City
lawfully available therefor. In the event that there are insufficient “unrestricted moneys” received
by the City to permit the deposit into the Special Account (as hereinafter defined) of the full
amount of the Pledged Revenues to be deposited in any month by the last business day of such
month, then the amount of any deficiency shall be satisfied and made up from any other
moneys of the City lawfully available for the repayment of the Notes and interest thereon. The
term “unrestricted moneys” shall mean taxes, income, revenue, cash receipts, and other
moneys received by the City for the General Fund for Fiscal Year 2017-18 and which are
generally available for the payment of current expenses and other obligations of the City.
Section 6. Special Account. There is hereby created, within the General Fund, a special
account to be designated the “2017-18 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Note Special Account”
(the “Special Account”) and applied as directed in this Resolution. Any money placed in the
Special Account shall be for the benefit of the owners of the Notes and, until the Notes and all
interest thereon are paid or until provision has been made for the payment of the Notes at
maturity with interest to maturity, the moneys in the Special Account shall be applied solely for
the purposes for which the Special Account is created.
During the months of January, May, and July, 2018, the City shall deposit all Pledged
Revenues in the Special Account. On the maturity date of the Notes, the City shall transfer to
DTC the moneys in the Special Account necessary to pay the principal of and interest on the
Notes at maturity and to the extent said moneys are insufficient therefor an amount of moneys
from the General Fund which will enable payment of the full principal of and interest on the
Notes at maturity. DTC will thereupon make payments of principal of and interest on the Notes
to the DTC Participants who will thereupon make payments to the Beneficial Owners of the
Notes. Any moneys remaining in the Special Account after the Notes and the interest thereon
have been paid, or provision for such payment has been made, shall be transferred to the
General Fund.
Section 7. Deposit and Investment of Special Account. All moneys held by the City in the
Special Account, if not invested, shall be held in time or demand deposits as public funds and
shall be secured at all times by bonds or other obligations which are authorized by law as
security for public deposits, of a market value at least equal to the amount required by law.
Moneys in the Special Account shall, to the greatest extent possible, be invested by the
City directly, or through an investment agreement, in investments as permitted by the laws of
the State of California as now in effect and as hereafter amended, and the proceeds of any such
investments shall be deposited in the Special Account.
Section 8. Execution of Notes. The Mayor of the City, the City Manager, or the Director
of Finance (each an “Authorized Officer”) is hereby authorized to execute the Notes by manual
or facsimile signature, and the City Clerk of the City is hereby authorized to countersign the
same by manual or facsimile signature (although at least one of such signatures shall be
manual) and to affix the seal of the City thereto by facsimile impression thereof, and said
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officers are hereby authorized to cause the blank spaces thereof to be filled in as may be
appropriate.
Section 9. Transfer of Notes. Any Note may, in accordance with its terms, but only if the
City determines to no longer maintain the book entry only status of the Notes, DTC determines
to discontinue providing such services and no successor securities depository is named or DTC
requests the City to deliver Note certificates to particular DTC Participants, be transferred, upon
the books required to be kept pursuant to the provisions of Section 11 hereof, by the person in
whose name it is registered, in person or by his duly authorized attorney, upon surrender of
such Note for cancellation at the office of the City Clerk, accompanied by delivery of a written
instrument of transfer in a form approved by the City, duly executed.
Whenever any Note or Notes shall be surrendered for transfer, the City shall execute
and the Paying Agent shall authenticate and deliver a new Note or Notes, for like aggregate
principal amount.
Section 10. Exchange of Notes. Any Note may, in accordance with its terms, but only if
the City determines to no longer maintain the book entry only status of the Notes, DTC
determines to discontinue providing such services and no successor securities depository is
named or DTC requests the City to deliver Note certificates to particular DTC Participants, be
exchanged at the office of the City Clerk for a like aggregate principal amount of Notes of
authorized denominations and of the same maturity.
Section 11. Note Register. The City shall keep or cause to be kept sufficient books for
the registration and transfer of the Notes if the book entry only system is no longer in effect and,
in such case, the City Clerk shall register or transfer or cause to be registered or transferred, on
said books, Notes as herein before provided. While the book entry only system is in effect, such
books need not be kept as the Notes will be represented by one Note registered in the name of
Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC.
Section 12. Temporary Notes. The Notes may be initially issued in temporary form
exchangeable for definitive Notes when ready for delivery. The temporary Notes may be printed,
lithographed or typewritten, shall be of such denominations as may be determined by the City,
and may contain such reference to any of the provisions of this Resolution as may be
appropriate. Every temporary Note shall be executed by the City upon the same conditions and
in substantially the same manner as the definitive Notes. If the City issues temporary Notes it
will execute and furnish definitive Notes without delay, and thereupon the temporary Notes may
be surrendered, for cancellation, in exchange therefor at the office of the City Clerk and the City
Clerk shall deliver in exchange for such temporary Notes an equal aggregate principal amount
of definitive Notes of authorized denominations. Until so exchanged, the temporary Notes shall
be entitled to the same benefits pursuant to this Resolution as definitive Notes executed and
delivered hereunder.
Section 13. Notes Mutilated, Lost, Destroyed or Stolen. If any Note shall become
mutilated the City, at the expense of the owner of said Note, shall execute and deliver a new
Note of like maturity and principal amount in exchange and substitution for the Note so
mutilated, but only upon surrender to the City Clerk of the Note so mutilated. Every mutilated
Note so surrendered to the City Clerk shall be canceled and delivered to, or upon the order of,
the City. If any Note shall be lost, destroyed or stolen, evidence of such loss, destruction or theft
may be submitted to the City and, if such evidence be satisfactory to the City and indemnity
satisfactory to it shall be given, the City, at the expense of the owner, shall execute and deliver
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a new Note of like maturity and principal amount in lieu of and in substitution for the Note so
lost, destroyed or stolen. The City may require payment of a sum not exceeding the actual cost
of preparing each new Note issued under this Section 13 and of the expenses which may be
incurred by the City in the premises. Any Note issued under the provisions of this Section 13 in
lieu of any Note alleged to be lost, destroyed or stolen shall constitute an original additional
contractual obligation on the part of the City whether or not the Note so alleged to be lost,
destroyed or stolen be at any time enforceable by anyone, and shall be equally and
proportionately entitled to the benefits of this Resolution with all other Notes issued pursuant to
this Resolution.
Section 14. Covenants and Warranties. It is hereby covenanted and warranted by the
City that all representations and recitals contained in this Resolution are true and correct, and
that the City and its appropriate officials have duly taken all proceedings necessary to be taken
by them, and will take any additional proceedings necessary to be taken by them, for the prompt
collection and enforcement of the taxes, income, revenue, cash receipts and other moneys
pledged hereunder in accordance with law and for carrying out the provisions of this Resolution.
Section 15. Tax Covenants.
(a) No Arbitrage. The City shall not take, nor permit nor suffer to be taken any
action with respect to the proceeds of the Notes which, if such action had been
reasonably expected to have been taken, or had been deliberately and intentionally
taken, on the date of issuance of the Notes (the “Closing Date”) would have caused the
Notes to be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of section 148 of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986 (the “Code”).
(b) Rebate Requirement. The City shall take any and all actions necessary to
assure compliance with section 148(f) of the Code, relating to the rebate of excess
investment earnings, if any, to the federal government.
(c) Private Activity Note Limitation. The City shall assure that proceeds of the
Notes are not so used as to cause the Notes to satisfy the private business tests of
section 141(b) of the Code.
(d) Private Loan Financing Limitation. The City shall assure that proceeds of the
Notes are not so used as to cause the Notes to satisfy the private loan financing test of
section 141(c) of the Code.
(e) Federal Guarantee Prohibition. The City shall not take any action or permit or
suffer any action to be taken if the result of the same would be to cause any of the Notes
to be “federally guaranteed” within the meaning of section 149(b) of the Code.
(f) Maintenance of Tax-Exemption. The City shall take all actions necessary to
assure the exclusion of interest on the Notes from the gross income of the owners of the
Notes to the same extent as such interest is permitted to be excluded from gross income
under the Code as in effect on the Closing Date.
Section 16. Official Statement. The City Council hereby approves the Official Statement
describing the Notes, in substantially the form on file with the City Clerk, together with any
changes therein or additions thereto deemed advisable by an Authorized Officer. The City
Council authorizes and directs an Authorized Officer on behalf of the City to deem “final”
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pursuant to Rule 15c2-12 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Rule”) the Official
Statement prior to its distribution by the municipal advisors to the City. The execution of the
Official Statement, which shall include such changes and additions thereto deemed advisable
by an Authorized Officer and such information permitted to be excluded from the Official
Statement pursuant to the Rule, shall be conclusive evidence of the approval of the Official
Statement by the City.
An Authorized Officer is authorized and directed to execute the Official Statement and a
statement that the facts contained in the Official Statement, and any supplement or amendment
thereto (which shall be deemed an original part thereof for the purpose of such statement) were,
at the time of sale of the Notes, true and correct in all material respects and that the Official
Statement did not, on the date of sale of the Notes, and does not, as of the date of delivery of
the Notes, contain any untrue statement of a material fact with respect to the City or omit to
state material facts with respect to the City required to be stated where necessary to make any
statement made therein not misleading in the light of the circumstances under which it was
made. An Authorized Officer shall take such further actions prior to the signing of the Official
Statement as are deemed necessary or appropriate to verify the accuracy thereof. The Official
Statement is approved for distribution in the offering and sale of the Notes.
Section 17. Sale of Notes. An underwriter (the “Underwriter”) to be designated by an
Authorized Officer will purchase the Notes. An Authorized Officer is hereby authorized to
designate the Underwriter, in consultation with the City’s municipal advisor, NHA Advisors (the
“Municipal Advisor”) in one of the following ways:
(a) Limited Negotiated. An Authorized Officer may direct the Municipal Advisor to
contact a limited number of Underwriters and negotiate the sale of the Notes. An
Authorized Officer is hereby authorized to cause Jones Hall, A Professional Law
Corporation, as bond counsel to the City (“Bond Counsel”), to prepare and to execute
and deliver a Note Purchase Agreement in connection with a negotiated sale of the
notes in such form (including designation of the Underwriter) as an Authorized Officer
shall approve, such approval to be conclusively evidenced by his or her execution and
delivery thereof.
(b) Public Sale. An Authorized Officer, in consultation with the Municipal Advisor,
may determine to sell the Notes by competitive bid and award the sale of the Notes as
set forth in an Official Notice of Sale (the “Official Notice of Sale”), the form of which is
attached to this Resolution and is hereby approved, and which Bond Counsel is hereby
authorized to finalize, consistent with this Resolution. If an Authorized Officer
determines to proceed with a competitive bid, (a) Bond Counsel is hereby directed to
arrange for the publication of a notice of intention of the sale of the Notes in accordance
with Section 53692 of the Government Code and (b) an Authorized Officer is hereby
directed to execute the Official Notice of Sale; to open the bids at the time and place
specified in the Official Notice of Sale; to receive and record the receipt of all bids made
pursuant to the Official Notice of Sale; to cause said bids to be examined for compliance
with the Official Notice of Sale; to cause computations to be made as to which bidder
has bid the lowest true interest cost, as provided in the Official Notice of Sale; to
announce the bidder of the lowest true interest cost; and to award the sale to said
bidder.
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An Authorized Officer is further authorized to determine the maximum principal amount
of Notes not to exceed $26,000,000 and the maximum interest rate on the Notes not to exceed
five percent (5%) per annum.
Section 18. Engagement of Professional Services. The City hereby approves the
engagement of Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation as Bond Counsel and Disclosure
Counsel and NHA Advisors as Municipal Advisor to the City in connection with the issuance and
sale of the Notes. The City Attorney is authorized to execute a legal services agreement with
Jones Hall, with Jones Hall’s compensation to be contingent upon issuance of the Notes, and
Jones Hall’s compensation is not set by law but is negotiable.
Section 19. Preparation of Notes; Official Action. Jones Hall, A Professional Law
Corporation, as bond counsel, is directed to cause suitable Notes to be prepared showing on
their face that the same bear interest at the rate specified in the offer submitted by the
successful bidder or bidders, and to cause the blank spaces therein to be filled in to comply with
the provisions of this Resolution, and to procure their execution by the proper officers, and to
cause the Notes to be delivered when so executed to DTC on behalf of the successful bidder or
bidders therefor upon the receipt of the purchase price by the City Treasurer in accordance with
such successful bid or bids.
An Authorized Officer is further authorized and directed to make, execute and deliver
such certificates, agreements and other closing documents as are necessary to consummate
the transactions contemplated by this Resolution.
Section 20. Effective Date. This Resolution shall take effect upon its adoption.
The foregoing Resolution was adopted by the Berkeley City Council on July 25, 2017 by
the following vote:
Ayes:
Noes:
Absent:
Jesse Arreguin, Mayor
Attest:
City Clerk
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EXHIBIT A
FORM OF NOTE
No. 1

*****$_______****

CITY OF BERKELEY, CALIFORNIA
2017-18 TAX AND REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTE
INTEREST RATE:
%

MATURITY DATE:

ISSUE DATE:

____, 2018

CUSIP:

___, 2017

REGISTERED OWNER:

CEDE & CO.

PRINCIPAL SUM:

****_________________ DOLLARS****

The CITY OF BERKELEY, a municipal corporation, duly organized and existing under
and by virtue of the Constitution and laws of the State of California (the “City”), for value
received hereby promises to pay to the Registered Owner stated above, or registered assigns
(the “Owner”), on the Maturity Date stated above, the Principal Sum stated above, in lawful
money of the United States of America, and to pay interest thereon in like lawful money at the
rate per annum stated above, payable on the Maturity Date stated above, calculated on the
basis of 360-day year composed of twelve 30-day months. Both the principal of and interest on
this Note shall be payable at maturity to the Owner.
It is hereby certified, recited and declared that this Note is one of an authorized issue of
Notes in the aggregate principal amount of _________ Dollars ($___________), all of like tenor,
issued pursuant to the provisions of Resolution No. ________ of the City Council of the City
duly passed and adopted on July 25, 2017 (the “Resolution”), and pursuant to Article 7.6
(commencing with section 53850) of Chapter 4, Part 1, Division 2, Title 5, of the California
Government Code, and that all things, conditions and acts required to exist, happen and be
performed precedent to and in the issuance of the Notes exist, have happened and have been
performed in regular and due time, form and manner as required by law, and that this Note,
together with all other indebtedness and obligations of the City, does not exceed any limit
prescribed by the Constitution or statutes of the State of California.
The principal amount of the Notes, together with the interest thereon, shall be payable
from taxes, income, revenue, cash receipts and other moneys which are received by the City for
the General Fund of the City for Fiscal Year 2017-18. As security for the payment of the
principal of and interest on the Notes the City has pledged the first “unrestricted moneys” (as
hereinafter defined) to be received by the City as follows: (a) an amount equal to fifty percent
(50%) of the principal amount of the Notes in the month of January, 2018; (b) an amount equal
to fifty percent (50%) of the principal amount of the Notes in the month of May, 2018; and (c) an
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amount sufficient to pay interest as due on the Notes at their maturity, in the month of July, 2018
(such pledged amounts being hereinafter called the “Pledged Revenues”). The principal of the
Notes and the interest thereon shall constitute a first lien and charge thereon and shall be
payable from the Pledged Revenues. To the extent not so paid from the Pledged Revenues, the
Notes shall be paid from any other moneys of the City lawfully available therefor. In the event
that there are insufficient “unrestricted moneys” received by the City to permit the deposit into
the Special Account (as hereinafter defined) of the full amount of the Pledged Revenues to be
deposited in any month by the last business day of such month, then the amount of any
deficiency shall be satisfied and made up from any other moneys of the City lawfully available
for the repayment of the Notes and interest thereon. The term “unrestricted moneys” shall mean
taxes, income, revenue, cash receipts, and other moneys received by the City for the General
Fund of the City for Fiscal Year 2017-18 and which are generally available for the payment of
current expenses and other obligations of the City.
The Notes are issuable as fully registered Notes, without coupons, in denominations of
$5,000 and any integral multiple thereof. Subject to the limitations and conditions as provided in
the Resolution, Notes may be exchanged for a like aggregate principal amount of Notes of other
authorized denominations and of the same maturity.
The Notes are not subject to redemption prior to maturity.
This Note is transferable by the Owner hereof, but only under the circumstances, in the
manner and subject to the limitations provided in the Resolution. Upon registration of such
transfer a new Note or Notes, of authorized denomination or denominations, for the same
aggregate principal amount and of the same maturity will be issued to the transferee in
exchange herefor.
The City may treat the Owner hereof as the absolute owner hereof for all purposes, and
the City shall not be affected by any notice to the contrary.
Unless this Note is presented by an authorized representative of The Depository Trust
Company to the issuer or its agent for registration of transfer, exchange or payment, and any
certificate issued is registered in the name of Cede & Co. or such other name as requested by
an authorized representative of The Depository Trust Company and any payment is made to
Cede & Co., ANY TRANSFER, PLEDGE OR OTHER USE HEREOF FOR VALUE OR
OTHERWISE BY OR TO ANY PERSON IS WRONGFUL since the registered owner hereof,
Cede & Co., has an interest herein.

A-2
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Berkeley has caused this Note to be executed by
the City Manager and countersigned by the City Clerk of the City, all as of the Issue Date stated
above.
CITY OF BERKELEY

By
City Manager
Countersigned:

By
City Clerk

A-3
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OFFICIAL NOTICE OF SALE

2017-18 TAX AND REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES
$26,000,000*
City of Berkeley
(Alameda County, California)
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that electronic bid proposals (see "TERMS OF SALE --Electronic Bids" below) for the purchase of the captioned notes (the “Notes”) will be received by
the City Berkeley, California (the "City"), through BiDCOMPTM/Parity® (“Parity”) on:
THURSDAY, AUGUST 10, 2017
between 8:00 a.m. and 8:30 a.m. California Time.
Further information may be obtained from the municipal advisor to the City, NHA Advisors,
4040 Civic Center Drive, Suite 200, San Rafael, California 94903, Attn: Rob Schmidt, telephone:
(415) 785-2025 ext. 2006, email: rob@NHAadvisors.com.
POSTPONEMENT: The City reserves the right to postpone or change the time or sale
date upon 20 hours notice delivered via Bloomberg News Service or Thomson Municipal Market
Monitor (www.tm3.com).
ISSUE AND DENOMINATION; BOOK ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM: The Notes consist of
fully registered notes, without coupons. The Notes will be issued in minimum denominations of
$5,000. The Notes will be issued in a book entry only system with no physical distribution of the
Notes made to the public. The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”), will
act as depository for the Notes, which will be immobilized in its custody. The Notes will be
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee for DTC, on behalf of the participants in the
DTC system and the subsequent beneficial owners of the Notes.
DATE AND MATURITY: The Notes will be dated the date of delivery (expected to be
August 24, 2017), and will mature on July 19, 2018 (the “Maturity Date”).
INTEREST RATE: The maximum interest rate bid for the Notes may not exceed five
percent (5%) per annum, payable upon maturity of the Notes. Bidders must specify the rate of
interest which the Notes shall bear, provided that: (i) bids must be for all Notes; and (ii) the
Notes shall bear interest from its date to its stated maturity at the interest rate specified in the
bid.
REDEMPTION: The Notes are not subject to call and redemption prior to maturity.

*

Preliminary; subject to change
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PAYMENT: Both principal of and interest on the Notes will be payable on the Maturity
Date, in lawful money of the United States of America, to DTC which will immediately credit the
account of the successful bidder or bidders as participants in the DTC system.
PURPOSE OF ISSUE: The Notes are to be issued by the City and are authorized
pursuant to the provisions of Article 7.6 (commencing with Section 53850) of Chapter 4 of Part 1
of Division 2 of Title 5 of the California Government Code and the provisions of resolutions of
the City for any purpose for which the City is authorized to expend moneys.
SECURITY: The Notes are an obligation of the City and are secured by a pledge of and
first lien and charge against the first “unrestricted moneys,” as hereinafter defined, to be
received by the City, (a) in an amount equal to 50% of the principal amount of the Notes to be
received by the City in January 2018, (b) in an amount equal to 50% of the principal amount of
the Notes to be received by the City in May 2018, and (c) in an amount equal to all interest due
on the Notes at maturity to be received by the City in July 2018. The term “unrestricted
moneys” mean taxes, income, revenue and other moneys intended as receipts for the general
fund of the City and which are generally available for the payment of current expenses and
other obligations of the City.
Said pledged moneys shall be deposited by the City in a special fund established,
created and maintained by the City. Moneys shall be withdrawn from said fund for the sole
purpose of paying the principal of and the interest on the Notes at their maturity.
By statute, the Notes are declared to be general obligations of the City, and to the extent
not paid from said pledged moneys shall be paid, with the interest thereon, from any other
moneys of the City lawfully available therefor. Under provisions of the California Constitution,
the City is generally prohibited from incurring any indebtedness or liability exceeding in any year
the income and revenue provided for such year, without the assent of two-thirds of its qualified
electors voting at an election called for such purpose.
RATING: Moody’s Investors Service has given the Notes a rating of “_____”.

2

Page 16 of 80

TERMS OF SALE
BEST BID: Bids must be for all of the Notes. The Notes will be awarded on the basis of
the lowest net interest cost including premium offered in the proposals. No bid for less than par
will be entertained. In the event two or more bids setting forth identical interest rates and
premium per dollar principal amount, if any, and aggregating a principal amount in excess of the
principal amount of unawarded Notes are received, the City’s Finance Director, pursuant to
delegation by the Council, reserves the right to exercise his discretion and judgment in making
the award and may award the Notes on a pro rata basis in such denominations as he shall
determine.
ELECTRONIC BIDS: Solely as an accommodation to bidders, the City will accept bids
in electronic form solely from Ipreo, a KKR portfolio company, through its BiDCOMP
Competitive Bid Calculation System and Parity Electronic Bid Submission System (“Ipreo”). For
information about Ipreo, bidders may contact Ipreo at 395 Hudson Street, New York, New York
10014, telephone (212) 849-5023. If any provision of this Notice of Sale conflicts with
information provided by Ipreo, this Notice of Sale shall control. Each bidder submitting an
electronic bid understands and agrees by doing so that it is solely responsible for all
arrangements with Ipreo, that the City does not encourage the use of Ipreo, and that Ipreo is not
acting as an agent of the City. Instructions for submitting electronic bids must be obtained from
Ipreo, and the City does not assume any responsibility for ensuring or verifying bidder
compliance with Ipreo procedures. Ipreo has advised the City that bidders must subscribe to
Ipreo if such bidders intend to use Ipreo to submit bids. The City shall be entitled to assume
that any bid received via Ipreo has been made by a duly authorized agent of the bidder.
Neither the City, the Municipal Advisor nor Bond Counsel has any responsibility for
proper functioning of the Ipreo system, for any error contained in any bid submitted
electronically, or for failure of any bid to be transmitted, received or opened at the official time
for receipt of bids. The official time for receipt of bids will be determined by the City at the place
of bid opening, and the City will not be required to accept the time kept by Parity as the official
time. The City assumes no responsibility for informing any bidder prior to the deadline for
receiving bids that its bid is incomplete, or not received.
PROMPT AWARD: The City Representative, pursuant to delegation by the City, will
take action awarding the sale of the Notes or reject all bids not later than forty-eight (48) hours
after the expiration of time herein prescribed for the receipt of bids and until such expiration of
time all bids received shall be irrevocable. Unless such time of award is waived by the
successful bidder, the award may be made after the expiration of the specified time if the bidder
shall not have given to the City representative notice in writing of the withdrawal of such
proposal. Notice of the award will be given promptly to the successful bidder.
RIGHT TO WITHDRAW: In the event that the City receives bids from fewer than three
underwriters of municipal bonds who have established industry reputations for underwriting new
issuances of municipal bonds (“Established Underwriters”) for the purchase of the Bonds, the
successful bidder shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to either (a) withdraw its bid for the
purchase of the Notes within 90 minutes of being notified of the award, or (b) comply with the
Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule, as hereinafter defined. The bidder will be deemed to have elected
not to withdraw its bid if it fails to notify the City of its decision to withdraw its bid within 90
minutes of being notified of the award. If the successful bidder elects to withdraw its bid for the
purchase of the Notes, the City shall have no liability to such bidder and the City has the option
to award the sale of the Notes to the other bidder. If the City awards the sale of the Notes to the
other bidder, the first two sentences of this paragraph will apply to such bidder.

3
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The term “Hold-The-Offering-Price-Rule” means the rule under applicable federal tax law
which requires the successful bidder to (a) actually offer 100% of the Notes to the general public
in a bona fide public offering at the offering price or prices, or at the corresponding yield or
yields, set forth in its bid (the “Initial Offering Price”), and (b) on a maturity-by-maturity basis,
refrain from offering or selling unsold Notes to which the Hold-The-Offering-Price Rule applies to
any person at a price that is higher than the Initial Offering Price of the Notes during the period
starting on the sale date and ending on the earlier of (i) the date on which at least 10% of the
Notes are actually sold at a price which is no higher than the Initial Offering Price, or (ii) the
close of the fifth business day after the sale date, being the close of business on August 17,
2017 (the “Holding Period”).
CERTIFICATION OF REOFFERING PRICE: In the event that the City receives bids
from fewer than three Established Underwriters for the purchase of the Notes and the
successful bidder elects to comply with the Hold-The-Offering-Price-Rule, as described above,
the successful bidder will be required, as a condition to the delivery of the Notes by the City, to
execute a certificate to be prepared by Bond Counsel which evidences compliance with the
Hold-The-Price-Rule. Such certificate will be required to identify the Initial Offering Price of the
Notes and to certify that none of the Notes were offered or sold at a price which is higher than
the Initial Offering Price during the Holding Period. A copy of the proposed form of such
certification is available upon request to the City’s municipal advisor.
NO GOOD FAITH DEPOSIT: The City is not requiring the successful bidder to submit a
good faith deposit.
DELIVERY AND PAYMENT: It is estimated that the delivery of the Notes will be made
to DTC for the account of the successful bidders on or about August 24, 2017. Payment of the
purchase price must be made in funds immediately available to the City by wire transfer or other
means acceptable to the City.
RIGHT OF REJECTION: The City reserves the right, in its sole discretion, to reject any
and all bids for the Notes and to waive any irregularity or informality in any bid.
CHANGE IN TAX EXEMPT STATUS: At any time before the Notes are tendered for
delivery, any successful bidder may disaffirm and withdraw its proposal if the interest received
by private holders from notes of the same type and character shall be declared to be taxable
income under present federal income tax laws, either by ruling of the Internal Revenue Service
or by a decision of any federal court, or shall be declared taxable or be required to be taken into
account in computing any federal income taxes by the terms of any federal income tax law
enacted subsequent to the date of this notice.
CONTINUING DISCLOSURE: In order to assist bidders in complying with S.E.C. Rule
15c2-12(b)(5), the City will undertake, pursuant to separate Continuing Disclosure Certificates,
to provide notices of the occurrence of certain events, if material. A description of these
undertakings is set forth in the preliminary official statement relating to the Notes (the “POS”)
and will also be set forth in a final official statement relating to the Notes (the “OS”).
ACKNOWLEDGMENT OF NO FIDUCIARY DUTY: At closing, the City will execute a
certificate to the effect that it acknowledges and agrees that (i) the purchase and sale of the
Notes by the winning bidder (the “Purchaser”) is an arm’s-length commercial transaction
between the City and the Purchaser, (ii) in connection with such transaction, the Purchaser is
acting solely as a principal and not as an advisor, (including, without limitation, a Municipal
Advisor (as such term is defined in Section 975(e) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and
Consumer Protection Act)), agent or a fiduciary of the City, (iii) the Purchaser has not assumed
4
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(individually or collectively) a fiduciary responsibility in favor of the City with respect to the
offering of the Notes or the process leading thereto (whether or not the Purchaser, or any
affiliate of an Purchaser, has advised or is currently advising the City on other matters) or any
other obligation to the City except the obligation to purchase the Notes, (iv) the Purchaser has
financial and other interests that differ from those of the City and (v) the City has consulted with
its own legal and municipal advisors to the extent it deemed appropriate in connection with the
offering of the Notes.
CLOSING PAPERS; LEGAL OPINION: Each proposal will be conditioned upon the
City furnishing to each successful bidder, without charge, concurrently with payment for and
delivery of the Notes, the following closing papers, each dated the date of such delivery:
(a) The opinion of Bond Counsel, approving the validity of the Notes and stating that,
subject to certain qualifications, under existing law, the interest on the Notes is excluded from
gross income for federal income tax purposes, such interest is not an item of tax preference for
purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on individuals and corporations,
although for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on corporations (as
defined for federal income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in determining
certain income and earnings, and is exempt from State of California personal income taxes, a
copy of which opinion (certified by the official in whose office the original is filed) will be
delivered with the Notes without cost to the purchaser.
(b) A certificate of the Finance Director or other appropriate official of the City that on the
basis of the facts, estimates and circumstances in existence on the date of issue, it is not
expected that the proceeds of the Notes will be used in a manner that would cause the Notes to
be “arbitrage bonds” within the meaning of the Code;
(c) A certificate on behalf of the City that there is no litigation threatened or pending
affecting the validity of the Notes;
(d) A certificate of the Finance Director or other appropriate official of the City, acting on
behalf of the City solely in his or her official and not in his or her personal capacity, that at the
time of the sale of the Notes and at all times subsequent thereto up to and including the time of
the delivery of the Notes to the initial purchasers thereof, the OS did not, and does not, contain
any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary which would
make the statements misleading in the light of the circumstances under which they were made;
(e) The signature certificate of the officials of the City, showing that they have signed the
Notes and impressed the seal of the City thereon, and that they were respectively duly
authorized to execute the same; and
(f) The receipt of the City showing that the purchase price of the Notes has been
received.
OFFICIAL STATEMENT: The City has approved a preliminary Official Statement relating to
the Notes. Copies of such preliminary Official Statement will be distributed to any bidder, upon
request, prior to the sale in a form “deemed final” by the City for purposes of Rule 15c2-12
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Rule”). Within seven business days from the
sale date, the City will deliver to the purchaser copies of the final Official Statement, executed
by an authorized representative of the City and dated the date of delivery thereof to the
purchaser, in sufficient number to allow the purchaser to comply with paragraph (b)(4) of the
Rule and to satisfy the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board (the “MSRB”) Rule G-32 or any
other applicable rules adopted by the MSRB, which shall include information permitted to be
omitted by paragraph (b)(1) of the Rule and such other amendments or supplements as shall
5
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have been approved by the City (the “Final Official Statement”). The purchaser agrees that it
will not confirm the sale of any Notes unless the confirmation of sale is accompanied or
preceded by the delivery of a copy of the Final Official Statement. The City will furnish to the
successful bidder, at no charge, an electronic copy of the Official Statement for use in
connection with any resale of the Notes, and up to 15 printed copies upon request.
A letter of Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, San Francisco, California, as
disclosure counsel, will be addressed to the City and to the successful bidder, stating that,
without passing upon or assuming any responsibility for the accuracy, completeness of fairness
of the statements contained in the final Official Statement and making no representations that
they have independently verified the accuracy, completeness or fairness of an such statements,
based upon the information made available to them in the course of their participation in the
preparation of the final Official Statement, nothing has come to such counsel’s attention which
would lead them to believe that the final Official Statement, including the cover page and all
appendices thereto (but excluding therefrom financial statements and statistical data, and
information regarding The Depository Trust Company, and its book entry system, as to which no
opinion need be expressed) contains an untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a
material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein, in the
light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading
GIVEN pursuant to a resolution of the City adopted July 25, 2017.
Dated: July 28, 2017

6
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_______, 2017

City Council
City of Berkeley
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, California 94704
OPINION:

$_________ City of Berkeley, California
2017-18 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes

Members of the City Council:
We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the City of Berkeley,
California (the “City”), of $__________ City of Berkeley, California 2017-18 Tax and Revenue
Anticipation Notes, dated the date hereof (the “Notes”), pursuant to Article 7.6 (commencing with
Section 53850) of Chapter 4, Part 1, Division 2, Title 5 of the California Government Code (the
“Act”), and a resolution of the City, adopted on July 25, 2017 (the “Resolution”). We have
examined the law and such certified proceedings and other papers as we deem necessary to
render this opinion.
As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon representations of the
City contained in the Resolution and in the certified proceedings of public officials and others
furnished to us, without undertaking to verify such facts by independent investigation.
Based upon our examination, we are of the opinion, under existing law, as follows:
1.
The City is a duly created and validly existing municipal corporation with the power
to adopt the Resolution, to perform the agreements on its part contained therein and to issue the
Notes.
2.
The Resolution has been duly adopted by the City and constitutes a valid and
binding obligation of the City enforceable upon the City.
3.
Pursuant to the Act, the Resolution creates a first lien on funds pledged by the
Resolution for the security of the Notes.
4.
The Notes have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the City and are
valid and binding general obligations of the City.
5.
The interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax
imposed on individuals and corporations; it should be noted, however, that, for the purpose of
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computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on such corporations (as defined for federal
income tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in determining certain income and
earnings. The opinion set forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the condition that the City
comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 that must be satisfied
subsequent to the issuance of the Notes in order that interest thereon be, or continue to be,
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The City has covenanted to comply
with each such requirement. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may cause the
inclusion of interest on the Notes in gross income for federal income tax purposes to be retroactive
to the date of issuance of the Notes. We express no opinion regarding other federal tax
consequences arising with respect to the Notes.
6.
The interest on the Notes is exempt from personal income taxation imposed by the
State of California.
The rights of the owners of the Notes and the enforceability of the Notes and the
Resolution may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter enacted and may also be subject to
the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.
Respectfully submitted,

A Professional Law Corporation

This Preliminary Official Statement and the information contained herein are subject to completion or amendment. Under no circumstances shall this Preliminary Official Statement constitute an offer to sell
or a solicitation of an offer to buy nor shall there be any sale of these securities in any jurisdiction in which such offer solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the
securities laws of such jurisdiction .
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PRELIMINARY OFFICIAL STATEMENT DATED ______________, 2017
NEW ISSUE BOOK-ENTRY ONLY

RATING
Moody's: “____”
See “RATING.”

In the opinion of Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, San Francisco, California, Bond Counsel, subject, however to
certain qualifications described herein, under existing law, the interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income
tax purposes and such interest is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax imposed on
individuals and corporations, although for the purpose of computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on certain corporations,
such interest is taken into account in determining certain income and earnings. In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, such interest
is exempt from California personal income taxes. See "TAX MATTERS."

$_________*
CITY OF BERKELEY
2017-18 TAX AND REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES
Dated: Date of Delivery

Due: July 19, 2018

The notes captioned above (the “Notes”) will be issued in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. Principal and
interest on the Notes will be payable upon maturity. The Notes are to be delivered as fully registered Notes, without coupons and,
when delivered, will be registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New
York (as described in APPENDIX E – BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM). DTC will act as securities depository of the Notes. Purchases
will be made in book-entry form only, in the principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Notes are not subject to
redemption prior to maturity.
The Notes are by statute general obligations of the City of Berkeley, California (the “City”), payable solely from taxes, income,
revenues, cash receipts and other moneys that are received by the City for the General Fund for fiscal year 2017-18 and that are
generally available for the payment of current expenses and other obligations of the City (the “Unrestricted Moneys”). The Notes
are secured by a pledge of Unrestricted Moneys to be received by the City in (a) an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the
principal amount of the Notes in the month of January 2018; (b) an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the principal amount of
the Notes in the month of May 2018; and (c) an amount sufficient to pay interest as due on the Notes at their maturity, in the month
of June 2018 (such pledged amounts being hereinafter called the “Pledged Revenues”). The Pledged Revenues will be deposited
into, and held by the City in, a special fund designated “City of Berkeley, California, 2017-18 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes
Special Account,” as established in the City’s Resolution adopted on July 25, 2017.
Principal of and interest on the Notes are payable in lawful moneys of the United States of America upon maturity, and interest
on the Notes will be computed on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months and accrues from the date of
delivery.
The Notes are legal investments for commercial banks in California and are eligible to secure deposits of public moneys in
California.
THIS COVER PAGE CONTAINS CERTAIN INFORMATION FOR QUICK REFERENCE ONLY. IT IS NOT A SUMMARY OF
THIS ISSUE. INVESTORS MUST READ THE ENTIRE OFFICIAL STATEMENT TO OBTAIN INFORMATION ESSENTIAL TO THE
MAKING OF AN INFORMED INVESTMENT DECISION.
The following firm, serving as municipal advisor to the City, has structured this issue.

MATURITY SCHEDULE
Interest Rate

Reoffering Yield

CUSIP†

The Notes are offered when, as and if issued and received by the Underwriter, subject to the approval of legality by Jones Hall,
A Professional Law Corporation, San Francisco, California, Bond Counsel. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City by
Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, as Disclosure Counsel, and by the City Attorney. It is anticipated that the Notes, in
definitive form, will be available for delivery through DTC in New York, New York on or about August __, 2017.
Dated: August __, 2017

*

Preliminary; subject to change.
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GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT
No dealer, broker, salesman or other person has been authorized by the City to give any information or to make
any representations with respect to the Notes other than those contained in this Official Statement and, if given
or made, such information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the City. This
Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell nor the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall there be any
sale of the Notes by any person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.
This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract with the purchasers of the Notes. Statements
contained in this Official Statement which involve estimates, forecasts or matters of opinion, whether or not
expressly so described herein, are intended solely as such and are not to be construed as a representation of
facts.
The information set forth in this Official Statement has been obtained from sources that are believed to be reliable,
but is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness, and is not to be construed as a representation by the
Underwriter. The information and expressions of opinion stated in this Official Statement are subject to change
without notice and neither delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale made hereunder shall, under any
circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the information or opinions set forth
herein or in the affairs of the City since the date hereof. This Official Statement is submitted in connection with
the sale of the Notes referred to herein and may not be reproduced or used, in whole or in part, for any purpose,
unless authorized in writing by the City.
The Notes have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), in
reliance upon an exemption contained in such Act. The Notes have not been registered under the securities laws
of any state.
IN CONNECTION WITH THIS OFFERING, THE UNDERWRITER MAY OVERALLOT OR EFFECT
TRANSACTIONS THAT STABILIZE OR MAINTAIN THE MARKET PRICE OF THE NOTES AT LEVELS ABOVE
THOSE WHICH MIGHT OTHERWISE PREVAIL IN THE OPEN MARKET. SUCH STABILIZING, IF
COMMENCED, MAY BE DISCONTINUED AT ANY TIME. THE UNDERWRITER MAY OFFER AND SELL THE
NOTES TO CERTAIN DEALERS AND BANKS AT PRICES LOWER THAN THE PUBLIC OFFERING PRICE
STATED ON THE COVER PAGE HEREOF AND SAID PUBLIC OFFERING PRICE MAY BE CHANGED FROM
TIME TO TIME BY THE UNDERWRITER.
Certain statements included or incorporated by reference in this Official Statement constitute “forward-looking
statements” within the meaning of the United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995, Section
21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Section 27A of the Securities Act. Such statements
are generally identifiable by the terminology used such as “plan,” “expect,” “estimate,” “budget” or other similar
words.
The Underwriter has provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement. The Underwriter has
reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, its responsibilities to
investors under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this transaction, but the
Underwriter does not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.
THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CERTAIN RESULTS OR OTHER EXPECTATIONS CONTAINED IN SUCH
FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS INVOLVE KNOWN AND UNKNOWN RISKS, UNCERTAINTIES AND
OTHER FACTORS WHICH MAY CAUSE ACTUAL RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR ACHIEVEMENTS
DESCRIBED TO BE MATERIALLY DIFFERENT FROM ANY FUTURE RESULTS, PERFORMANCE OR
ACHIEVEMENTS EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED BY SUCH FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS. THE CITY
DOES NOT PLAN TO ISSUE ANY UPDATES OR REVISIONS TO THOSE FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS IF OR WHEN ITS EXPECTATIONS, OR EVENTS, CONDITIONS OR CIRCUMSTANCES ON
WHICH SUCH STATEMENTS ARE BASED OCCUR.
Although the City maintains an internet website for various purposes, none of the information on that website is
incorporated by reference in this Official Statement or is intended to assist investors in making any investment
decision or to provide any continuing information with respect to the Notes or any other bonds or obligations of
the City.
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OFFICIAL STATEMENT

$_________*
CITY OF BERKELEY
2017-18 TAX AND REVENUE ANTICIPATION NOTES
INTRODUCTORY STATEMENT
General. This Official Statement, which includes the cover page, the appendices hereto
and this Introductory Statement, is provided to furnish information in connection with the sale by
the City of Berkeley, California (the “City”), of its 2017-18 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes
(the “Notes”).
The Notes are issued in full conformity with the Constitution and laws of the State of
California (the “State”), including Article 7.6, Chapter 4, Part 1, Division 2, Title 5 (commencing
with Section 53850 of the Government Code of the State), (the “Law”) and under the Law are
general obligations of the City payable solely from those taxes, income, revenues, cash receipts
and other moneys that are received by the City for the General Fund for fiscal year 2017-18 and
that are generally available for the payment of current expenses and other obligations of the City
(the “Unrestricted Moneys”). The Notes are authorized by a resolution adopted by the City
Council on July 25, 2017 (the “Resolution”). The City may, under the Law, issue the Notes only
if the principal of and interest on the Notes will not exceed 85% of the estimated amount of the
uncollected Unrestricted Moneys that will be available for the payment of said Notes. Proceeds
from the sale of the Notes will be deposited into a segregated account in the General Fund and
used and expended by the City for any purpose for which it is authorized to expend funds from
the General Fund.

THE NOTES
Description of the Notes
The Notes will be issued in the principal amount and at the interest rate shown on the
cover page of this Official Statement. Principal of and interest on the Notes are payable in lawful
moneys of the United States of America upon maturity, and interest on the Notes will be computed
on the basis of a 360-day year comprised of twelve 30-day months and accrues from the date of
delivery.
The Notes will be dated the date of delivery and will mature on July 19, 2018. The Notes
are to be delivered as fully registered Notes, without coupons, and, when delivered, will be
registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”),
New York, New York. DTC will act as securities depository of the Notes. Purchases will be made
in book-entry form only, in the principal amount of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof.

*

Preliminary; subject to change.
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Purpose of Issue
Proceeds of the Notes will provide moneys to meet the City’s General Fund cash flow
requirements during the 2017-18 fiscal year commencing July 1, 2017, and ending June 30, 2018,
including current expenses, capital expenditures, and the discharge of other obligations or
indebtedness.
Book-Entry Only System
DTC will act as securities depository for the Notes. The Notes will be issued as fullyregistered certificates registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee). One
fully-registered certificate will be issued for each maturity of the Notes, each in the aggregate
principal amount of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC. See “APPENDIX E – BOOKENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.”
So long as the Notes are registered in the name of Cede & Co., as nominee of DTC, all
payments with respect to the principal and interest with respect to the Notes will be made to DTC
as provided as in the representation letter delivered on the date of issuance of the notes. The City
cannot and does not give any assurances that DTC, DTC Participants or others will distribute
payments of principal, interest or premium, if any, with respect to the Notes paid to DTC or its
nominee as the registered owner, or will distribute any prepayment notices or other notices, to
the Beneficial Owners, or that they will do so on a timely basis or will serve and act in the manner
described in this Official Statement. The City is not responsible or liable for the failure of DTC or
any DTC Participant to make any payment or give any notice to a Beneficial Owner with respect
to the Notes or an error or delay relating thereto.

SECURITY FOR AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT OF THE NOTES
Security for the Notes
The principal amount of the Notes, together with the interest thereon, is payable from
Unrestricted Moneys, being the first taxes, income, revenue, cash receipts, and other moneys
that are received by the City for the General Fund for fiscal year 2017-18 and which are generally
available for the payment of current expenses and other obligations of the City. Estimated
Unrestricted Moneys exceed estimated payment requirements by more than eight to one. See
“THE NOTES – Available Sources of Payment.”
As security for the repayment of principal of and interest on the Notes, the City has pledged
to deposit into a special fund designated as the “2017-18 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Note
Special Account” (the “Special Account”) the first Unrestricted Moneys to be received by the City
as follows: (a) an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the principal amount of the Notes in the
month of January 2018; (b) an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the principal amount of the
Notes in the month of May 2018; and (c) an amount sufficient to pay interest as due on the Notes
at their maturity, in the month of June 2018 (such pledged amounts, the “Pledged Revenues”).
The Notes are equally and ratably secured by the City's pledge of the Pledged Revenues.
The principal of the Notes and the interest thereon shall constitute a first lien and charge
against and shall be paid from the first moneys received by the City from such Pledged Revenues,
and to the extent not so paid shall be paid from any other moneys of the City lawfully available
therefor. In the event there are insufficient Unrestricted Moneys received by the City to permit the
2
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deposits into the Special Account of the full amount of the Pledged Revenues to be deposited in
the applicable month, by the last business day of such month, then the amount of such deficiency
shall be satisfied and made up from any other moneys of the City lawfully available for the
payment of the Notes and the interest thereon.
All Pledged Revenues, as and when received, shall be deposited by the City into the
Special Account, which will be held by the City for the payment of the principal of and interest on
the Notes at maturity. Amounts deposited by the City into the Special Account shall be applied
solely for the purpose of paying the principal of and interest on the Notes. Such amounts shall be
invested by the City in legal investments, as permitted by Section 53601 of the Government Code
of the State. See “CITY INVESTMENT POLICY AND PORTFOLIO.”
Available Sources of Repayment
The Notes, in accordance with State law, are general obligations of the City, but are
payable only out of Unrestricted Moneys, which include the taxes, income, revenues, cash
receipts and other moneys that are received by the City for the General Fund for fiscal year 201718 and that are generally available for payment of current expenses and other obligations of the
City. The Constitution of the State substantially limits the City's ability to levy ad valorem taxes.
See “CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS AFFECTING CITY REVENUES AND
APPROPRIATIONS.” The City may, under existing law, issue the Notes only if the principal of,
and interest on, the Notes will not exceed 85% of the estimated uncollected Unrestricted Moneys
that will be available for the repayment of the Notes.
The Note coverage ratio is shown in the following table, and is the ratio of estimated
Unrestricted Moneys to the amount of Unrestricted Moneys needed to pay principal of and interest
on the Notes.

3
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The table below gives detail as to the sources of estimated Unrestricted Moneys and the
Note Coverage Ratio.
CITY OF BERKELEY
Estimated Unrestricted Moneys
Fiscal Year 2017-18
Source

Amount

Available Cash Balance, July 1, 2017

$20,393,090

Taxes (including property tax, sales tax and other taxes)

130,521,156

Other Revenue

37,713,806

Proceeds of the Notes(1)*

25,881,680

Transfers In

9,750,960

TOTAL UNRESTRICTED MONEYS*

$218,260,692

ESTIMATED PRINCIPAL PLUS INTEREST NEEDED FOR NOTE REPAYMENT*
NOTE COVERAGE RATIO*

$26,190,625
8.33x

* Preliminary; subject to change.
(1) Excluding underwriter’s discount and costs of issuance.
Source: City of Berkeley Finance Department.

Monthly Cash Flows
The City has prepared the accompanying monthly General Fund cash flow statements
covering fiscal year 2016-17 and the projected fiscal year 2017-18. The General Fund is used to
finance the ordinary operations of the City and is available for any legal authorized purposes.
While expenditures generally occur evenly throughout the fiscal year, cash receipts occur
unevenly. As a result, the General Fund cash balance tends to show a deficit during parts of the
fiscal year. The projections are based on the City’s budget and current financial condition.

4

$3,030,727
4,479,492
119,356
368,591
361,645
305,254
59,288
0
2,435,594
0
0
0
0
0
1,564,110
$12,724,057

CASH DISBURSEMENTS
General Government
Public Safety
Highways and Streets
Health and Human Service
Culture - Recreation
Urban Redevelopment/Housing
Econ Dev & Assistance
Debt Service
Transfers Out/Other
Set Up Stabilization Reserve Fund
Set Up Catastrophic Reserve Fund
TRAN Principal Pledge
TRAN Interest Pledge
Prepayment to CalPERS
Advances from GF/(Repayment to GF)
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS

$58,473,347

Ending Balance

* Actual through April 2017.
Source: City of Berkeley

$11,813,188

Net Cash Flow

$0

$1,503,743
1,302,284
2,148,198
23,556
0
732,536
539,150
37,750
118,673
2,798
21,553
933,914
0
17,173,090
$24,537,245

CASH RECEIPTS
Property Tax
Sales Tax
Other Taxes
License and Permits
Subventions & Grants
Service Fees
Fines and Penalties
Miscellaneous
Interest Income
Rents and Royalties
Franchises
Transfers In/Indirect Costs
Loan Repayment from Others
TRAN Proceeds
TOTAL RECEIPTS

Interfund Borrowings

July
$46,660,159

Beginning Balance

$55,034,987

($3,438,360)

$0

$2,577,708
7,046,624
111,473
638,951
680,814
591,959
656,764
0
2,153,109
0
0
0
0
0
393,068
$14,850,470

$2,862,859
3,994,218
2,189,091
29,256
4,126
747,354
495,594
54,391
135,900
15,127
243,080
641,114
0
0
$11,412,110

August
$58,473,347

$48,765,680

($6,269,307)

$0

$2,723,902
9,964,457
165,510
936,263
597,951
640,390
183,210
0
197,752
0
0
0
0
0
940,625
$16,350,060

$3,805,585
2,064,196
1,818,496
59,256
5,955
564,868
588,949
125,539
195,938
11,238
0
840,733
0
0
$10,080,753

September
$55,034,987

$40,462,150

($8,303,531)

$0

4,460,952
0
0
0
0
0
251,602
$15,930,616

$2,440,838
7,153,746
129,081
638,755
389,359
334,912
131,371

$1,272,980
1,192,556
2,407,276
36,587
2,796
516,367
718,472
177
331,193
15,011
19,790
1,113,880
0
0
$7,627,085

October
$48,765,680

$32,494,705

($7,967,445)

$0

$3,225,944
6,859,285
126,295
720,267
345,080
380,456
284,383
0
162,752
0
0
0
0
0
1,279,928
$13,384,390

$187,416
1,820,473
1,725,706
29,624
0
701,982
(88,984)
995
130,959
6,393
243,319
659,062
0
0
$5,416,945

November
$40,462,150

5

$64,857,079

$32,362,374

$0

$3,125,319
7,529,867
127,318
748,165
430,007
404,772
180,660
0
493,722
0
0
0
0
0
(2,397,452)
$10,642,378

$30,132,566
2,148,457
2,299,401
63,561
5,470,366
865,051
1,011,720
808
339,302
8,568
0
664,952
0
0
$43,004,752

December
$32,494,705

$48,795,983

($16,061,096)

$0

$2,791,168
7,452,723
105,930
724,587
374,772
466,622
71,679
0
4,626,437
0
0
8,500,000
0
0
450,097
$25,564,015

($44,820)
1,318,740
5,299,101
70,609
0
943,240
640,947
6,579
125,399
4,778
20,376
1,117,970
0
0
$9,502,919

January
$64,857,079

$51,581,245

$2,785,262

$0

$2,358,162
7,180,509
91,224
777,887
367,433
471,907
56,814
0
162,752
0
0
0
0
0
494,263
$11,960,951

$512,993
1,877,176
10,147,933
47,167
0
588,612
503,517
13,134
117,252
23,581
255,119
659,729
0
0
$14,746,213

February
$48,795,983

City of Berkeley
FY 2016-17 Actual/Projected General Fund Cash Flows*
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$52,845,400

$1,264,155

$0

162,752
0
0
0
0
0
622,119
$17,281,584

$3,453,602
10,444,623
140,147
1,043,212
530,987
778,535
105,607

$7,130,413
1,421,301
7,491,035
77,045
191,031
764,448
504,046
930
54,561
6,982
0
903,948
0
0
$18,545,739

March
$51,581,245

$47,066,172

($5,779,227)

$0

$3,874,671
7,271,899
99,653
868,004
384,339
586,142
55,966
0
4,626,436
12,421,507
10,163,051
0
0
0
(1,941,136)
$38,410,532

$19,194,815
1,111,331
3,262,309
46,332
5,570,477
596,668
594,448
(4,620)
101,287
3,511
925,089
1,229,658
0
0
$32,631,305

April
$52,845,400

$33,971,767

($13,094,405)

$0

$3,336,788
6,920,987
98,383
782,315
356,148
481,727
53,343
0
162,752
0
0
8,500,000
0
0
500,000
$21,192,441

$2,238,850
1,623,500
1,929,000
33,000
0
613,195
550,000
5,000
174,359
8,122
260,264
662,746
0
0
$8,098,036

May
$47,066,172

$20,393,090

($13,578,677)

$0

$4,797,875
9,832,647
150,035
1,222,517
497,049
805,529
466,986
0
6,162,752
0
0
0
339,056
0
(500,000)
$23,774,443

$3,832,090
1,630,000
1,879,000
33,000
196,868
762,989
550,000
5,000
375,177
29,892
0
901,750
0
0
$10,195,767

June
$33,971,767

$20,393,090

($26,267,069)

$0

$37,736,703
92,136,858
1,464,404
9,469,514
5,315,583
6,248,205
2,306,071
0
25,807,762
12,421,507
10,163,051
17,000,000
339,056
0
1,657,224
$222,065,937

$72,629,490
21,504,232
42,596,546
548,993
11,441,619
8,397,309
6,607,859
245,683
2,200,000
136,001
1,988,590
10,329,456
0
17,173,090
$195,798,868

TOTAL
$46,660,159

$4,578,649
4,808,750
175,634
635,158
570,366
457,576
96,759
0
2,548,674
0
0
0
1,500,000
$15,371,566

CASH DISBURSEMENTS
General Government
Public Safety
Highways and Streets
Health and Human Service
Culture - Recreation
Urban Redevelopment/Housing
Econ Dev & Assistance
Debt Service
Transfers Out/Other
TRAN Principal Pledge
TRAN Interest Pledge
Prepayment to CalPERS
Advances from GF/(Repayment to GF)
TOTAL DISBURSEMENTS

$38,079,453

Ending Balance

Source: City of Berkeley

$17,686,363

Net Cash Flow

$0

$1,404,375
1,194,320
2,167,011
29,561
0
776,918
552,444
26,697
119,266
2,854
21,192
881,611
0
25,881,680
$33,057,929

CASH RECEIPTS
Property Tax
Sales Tax
Other Taxes
License and Permits
Subventions & Grants
Service Fees
Fines and Penalties
Miscellaneous
Interest Income
Rents and Royalties
Franchises
Transfers In/Indirect Costs
Loan Repayment from Others
TRAN Proceeds
TOTAL RECEIPTS

Interfund Borrowings

July
$20,393,090

Beginning Balance

$34,313,385

($3,766,068)

$0

$3,559,520
7,295,473
156,612
809,299
838,630
722,215
742,369
0
162,752
0
0
0
400,000
$14,686,871

$2,673,681
3,663,083
2,208,262
36,714
3,920
792,634
507,814
38,465
136,580
15,429
239,012
605,209
0
0
$10,920,803

August
$38,079,453

$26,202,146

($8,111,239)

$0

$3,448,704
10,192,334
221,622
1,062,540
713,283
750,589
214,405
0
162,752
0
0
0
1,000,000
$17,766,229

$3,554,111
1,893,067
1,834,421
74,363
5,657
599,091
603,471
88,781
196,918
11,463
0
793,648
0
0
$9,654,990

September
$34,313,385

$19,017,938

($7,184,208)

$0

$2,611,406
7,237,929
165,909
654,667
416,711
366,750
144,720
0
2,548,674
0
0
0
500,000
$14,646,767

$1,188,861
1,093,689
2,428,357
45,914
2,656
547,652
736,187
125
332,849
15,311
19,459
1,051,498
0
0
$7,462,559

October
$26,202,146

$10,240,190

($8,777,747)

$0

$3,451,376
6,940,003
162,328
738,210
369,322
416,624
313,281
0
162,752
0
0
0
1,500,000
$14,053,895

$175,032
1,669,549
1,740,819
37,176
0
744,513
(91,178)
704
131,614
6,521
239,247
622,152
0
0
$5,276,148

November
$19,017,938

6

$39,722,199

$29,482,009

$0

$3,343,719
7,618,476
163,643
766,803
460,215
443,251
199,018
0
162,752
0
0
0
(2,000,000)
$11,157,877

$28,141,400
1,970,342
2,319,538
79,765
5,196,692
917,461
1,036,666
571
340,999
8,739
0
627,712
0
0
$40,639,886

December
$10,240,190

$20,996,805

($18,725,394)

$0

$2,986,218
7,540,424
136,153
742,637
401,100
510,981
78,963
0
2,548,674
12,750,000
0
0
500,000
$28,195,149

($41,858)
1,209,412
5,345,507
88,610
0
1,000,388
656,751
4,653
126,026
4,874
20,035
1,055,359
0
0
$9,469,755

January
$39,722,199

$23,320,632

$2,323,828

$0

$2,522,953
7,265,007
117,251
797,265
393,245
516,768
62,587
0
162,752
0
0
0
500,000
$12,337,828

$479,094
1,721,552
10,236,802
59,192
0
624,274
515,932
9,288
117,838
24,052
250,850
622,781
0
0
$14,661,656

February
$20,996,805

City of Berkeley
FY 2017-18 Projected General Fund Cash Flows
(Including FY 2017-18 TRAN)
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$23,449,575

$128,942

$0

$3,694,943
10,567,532
180,132
1,069,200
568,289
852,545
116,338
0
162,752
0
0
0
700,000
$17,911,732

$6,659,234
1,303,470
7,556,636
96,687
181,474
810,763
516,474
658
54,834
7,122
0
853,323
0
0
$18,040,674

March
$23,320,632

$40,266,288

$16,816,714

$0

$4,145,437
7,357,472
128,085
889,627
411,339
641,863
61,653
0
2,548,674
0
0
0
(2,000,000)
$14,184,150

$17,926,418
1,019,198
3,290,879
58,144
5,291,795
632,818
609,105
(3,267)
101,793
3,581
909,609
1,160,792
0
0
$31,000,864

April
$23,449,575

$22,235,048

($18,031,240)

$0

$3,569,966
7,002,431
126,452
801,803
381,167
527,522
58,763
0
162,752
12,750,000
0
0
500,000
$25,880,855

$2,090,907
1,488,906
1,945,893
41,413
0
650,346
563,561
3,536
175,231
8,284
255,909
625,629
0
0
$7,849,615

May
$40,266,288

$15,858,563

($6,376,485)

$0

$5,133,155
9,948,354
192,841
1,252,971
531,966
882,105
514,439
0
162,752
0
690,625
0
(3,100,000)
$16,209,208

$3,578,865
1,494,867
1,895,455
41,413
187,019
809,216
563,561
3,536
377,053
30,490
0
851,248
0
0
$9,832,723

June
$22,235,048

$15,858,563

($4,534,527)

$0

$43,046,046
93,774,186
1,926,662
10,220,180
6,055,633
7,088,790
2,603,295
0
11,496,712
25,500,000
690,625
0
0
$202,402,129

$67,830,120
19,721,456
42,969,580
688,952
10,869,212
8,906,073
6,770,789
173,746
2,211,000
138,720
1,955,314
9,750,960
0
25,881,680
$197,867,602

TOTAL
$20,393,090
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CITY INVESTMENT POLICY AND PORTFOLIO
The authority to invest the City’s funds is derived from a resolution adopted annually by
the City Council delegating to the Director of Finance and the Treasurer of the City the authority
to invest these funds within the guidelines of Section 53600 et seq. of the Government Code of
the State (the “Government Code”). The Government Code also directs the City to present an
annual investment policy (the “Investment Policy”) for confirmation to the City Council. The City
Council voted to affirm the Investment Policy and designate the investment authority on June 27,
2017. The Investment Policy may be revised by the City Council at any time.
The objectives of the Investment Policy are preservation of capital, liquidity and yield. The
Investment Policy addresses the soundness of financial institutions in which the City may deposit
funds, types of investment instruments permitted by the City and the Government Code,
investment duration and the amount which may be invested in certain instruments. The
Investment Policy also reflects and supports the City’s policy positions on important social and
environmental issues, as contained in formal City Council actions including the Nuclear-Free
Berkeley Act, the Responsible Investment Ordinance, the Oppressive States Contract Resolution
and Divestment from Publicly-Traded Fossil Fuel Companies and Gun Manufacturers and
Tobacco companies. Summarized below are the permitted investments under the Investment
Policy. These policies may further restrict investment options available to the City.

Authorized Investment Type
Bank/Time Deposit Accounts
Money Market Funds
Repurchase Agreements
Reverse Repurchase Agreements
Banker’s Acceptances
U.S. Government Securities (Treasury bills,
Notes and Bonds)
U.S. Agency Securities by Agency
Negotiable Certificates of Deposit
Local Agency Bonds
Commercial Paper
Medium Term Notes

Maximum
Maturity
5 years
N/A
1 year
7 days
7 days
5 years
30 years*
5 years
30 years*
5 years
30 years*
5 years
30 years*
180 days
5 years
30 years*

Maximum
Maximum
Investment
Percentage/Dollar
In One
of Portfolio
Issuer
100%
N/A
100%
N/A
10%
N/A
10%
N/A
40%
30%
100%

N/A

100%

N/A

30%

$250,000

100%
25%

N/A
$5M or 2%

30%

30%

* Maturities over five years, up to 30 years, are authorized only for Retiree Medical Plan Trust and debt service reserve
funds.

As of April 30, 2017, the City portfolio included $326,313,720 in pooled investments. The
average life of the investments was 743 days and the weighted yield was 1.060% from January
1 to April 30, 2017. The following is a list of investments held by the City:
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CITY OF BERKELEY
City Pooled Investments
(As of April 30, 2017)
Market
Value

Security
Medium Term Corporate Notes and Municipal Notes
Federal Agency Coupon Notes
Money Market Fund and Loans
TOTAL:

$10,132,280
219,515,844
96,665,596
$326,313,720

Source: City of Berkeley Finance Department
Source: City of Berkeley Finance Department

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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% of Total
Portfolio
3.11%
67.27
29.62
100.00%
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SPECIAL RISK FACTORS
The following information should be considered by prospective investors in evaluating the
Notes; however, this information does not purport to be an exhaustive listing of the risks and other
considerations, which may be relevant to an investment in the Notes.
Bankruptcy Considerations
In 1994, Orange County, California issued its 1994-1995 Tax and Revenue Anticipation
Notes (the “Orange County Notes”) under the same statutory authority as the Notes. On
December 6, 1994, Orange County filed a petition in bankruptcy. Subsequently, Orange County
declined to set aside the taxes and revenues it had pledged for the repayment of the Orange
County Notes and a noteholder brought suit to compel Orange County to do so. A March 8, 1995
ruling of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Central District of California, held that the lien
securing the Orange County Notes did not attach to revenues received by Orange County after
the filing of its bankruptcy petition on December 6, 1994, and therefore, Orange County was not
required to set aside the revenues pledged under the note resolution following the bankruptcy.
The Bankruptcy Court ruled that under the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy
Code”), the lien did not attach to revenues received by Orange County after December 6, 1994,
because the lien was a consensual security interest rather than a statutory lien. In July 1995, the
United Stated District Court for the Central District of California reversed the decision of the
Bankruptcy Court. Orange County appealed the decision of the District Court to the United States
Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit. Before the Ninth Circuit rendered a decision, the parties
settled their disputes. Accordingly, if the City were to file for bankruptcy, it is not clear whether it
would be required to set aside revenues pledged under the Resolution as described above.
In addition, the Pledged Revenues and other moneys that will be set aside to pay the
Notes will be held in the City’s General Fund, and these funds will be invested in the pooled
investment fund. Should the City go into bankruptcy, a court might hold that the owners of the
Notes do not have a valid lien on the Pledged Revenues. In that case, unless the owners could
“trace” the funds, the owners would merely be unsecured creditors of the City. There can be no
assurance that the owners of the Notes could successfully so “trace” the Pledged Revenues.
Limitations on Remedies
The rights of the owners of the Notes are subject to the limitations on legal remedies
against cities in the State, including a limitation on enforcement of judgments against funds
needed to serve the public welfare and interest. Additionally, enforceability of the rights and
remedies of the owners of the Notes and the obligations incurred by the City, may become subject
to the following: the Bankruptcy Code and applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
moratorium, or similar laws relating to or affecting the enforcement of creditor’s rights generally,
now or hereafter in effect; equity principles which may limit the specific enforcement under State
law of certain remedies; the exercise by the United States of America of the powers delegated to
it by the Constitution; and the reasonable and necessary exercise in certain exceptional situations,
of the police powers inherent in the sovereignty of the State and its governmental bodies in the
interest of serving a significant and legitimate public purpose. Bankruptcy proceedings, or the
exercise of powers by the federal or State government, if initiated, could subject the owners of
the Notes to judicial discretion and interpretation of their rights in bankruptcy or otherwise, and
consequently may entail risks of delay, limitation, or modification of their rights.
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CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS AFFECTING CITY REVENUES
AND APPROPRIATIONS
Limitations on Revenues
Article XIIIA of the California Constitution. Article XIIIA of the State Constitution,
adopted and known as Proposition 13, was approved by the voters in June 1978. Section 1(a) of
Article XIIIA limits the maximum ad valorem tax on real property to one percent of “full cash value,”
and provides that such tax shall be collected by the counties and apportioned according to State
law. Section 1(b) of Article XIIIA provides that the one-percent limitation does not apply to ad
valorem taxes levied to pay interest and redemption charges on (i) indebtedness approved by the
voters prior to July 1, 1978, or (ii) bonded indebtedness for the acquisition or improvement of real
property approved on or after July 1, 1978, by two-thirds of the votes cast on the proposition, or
(iii) bonded indebtedness incurred by a school district or community college district for the
construction, reconstruction, rehabilitation or replacement of school facilities or the acquisition or
lease of real property for school facilities, approved by 55% of the voters of the district, but only if
certain accountability measures are included in the proposition. The tax for payment of the City’s
general obligation bonds falls within the exception for bonds approved by a two-thirds vote.
Section 2 of Article XIIIA defines “full cash value” to mean the county assessor’s valuation
of real property as shown on the fiscal year 1975-76 tax bill, or, thereafter, the appraised value of
real property when purchased, newly constructed, or a change in ownership has occurred. The
full cash value may be adjusted annually to reflect inflation at a rate not to exceed two percent
per year, or to reflect a reduction in the consumer price index or comparable data for the area
under taxing jurisdiction, or may be reduced in the event of declining property value caused by
substantial damage, destruction or other factors. Legislation enacted by the State Legislature to
implement Article XIIIA provides that, notwithstanding any other law, local agencies may not levy
any ad valorem property tax except the 1% base tax levied by each County and taxes to pay debt
service on indebtedness approved by the voters as described above.
Since its adoption, Article XIIIA has been amended a number of times. These
amendments have created a number of exceptions to the requirement that property be
reassessed when purchased, newly constructed or a change in ownership has occurred. These
exceptions include certain transfers of real property between family members, certain purchases
of replacement dwellings for persons over age 55 and by property owners whose original property
has been destroyed in a declared disaster, and certain improvements to accommodate disabled
persons and for seismic upgrades to property. These amendments have resulted in marginal
reductions in the property tax revenues of the City.
Both the California State Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court have
upheld the validity of Article XIIIA.
Article XIIIC and Article XIIID of the California Constitution. On November 5, 1996,
the voters of the State approved Proposition 218, known as the “Right to Vote on Taxes Act.”
Proposition 218 adds Articles XIIIC and XIIID to the California Constitution and contains a number
of interrelated provisions affecting the ability of the City to levy and collect both existing and future
taxes, assessments, fees and charges.
On November 2, 2010, California voters approved Proposition 26, entitled the
“Supermajority Vote to Pass New Taxes and Fees Act.” Section 1 of Proposition 26 declares that
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Proposition 26 is intended to limit the ability of the State Legislature and local government to
circumvent existing restrictions on increasing taxes by defining the new or expanded taxes as
“fees.” Proposition 26 amended Articles XIIIA and XIIIC of the State Constitution. The
amendments to Article XIIIA limit the ability of the State Legislature to impose higher taxes (as
defined in Proposition 26) without a two-thirds vote of the Legislature. The amendments to Article
XIIIC define “taxes” that are subject to voter approval as “any levy, charge, or exaction of any kind
imposed by a local government,” with certain exceptions.
Taxes. Article XIIIC requires that all new local taxes be submitted to the electorate before
they become effective. Taxes for general governmental purposes of the City (“general taxes”)
require a majority vote; taxes for specific purposes (“special taxes”), even if deposited in the
City’s General Fund, require a two-thirds vote. The voter approval requirements of Proposition
218 reduce the flexibility of the City to raise revenues for the General Fund, and no assurance
can be given that the City will be able to impose, extend or increase such taxes in the future to
meet increased expenditure needs.
Property-Related Fees, Charges and Assessments. Article XIIID also adds several
provisions making it generally more difficult for local agencies to levy and maintain propertyrelated fees, charges, and assessments for municipal services and programs. These provisions
include, among other things, (i) a prohibition against assessments which exceed the reasonable
cost of the proportional special benefit conferred on a parcel, (ii) a requirement that assessments
must confer a “special benefit,” as defined in Article XIIID, over and above any general benefits
conferred, (iii) a majority protest procedure for assessments which involves the mailing of notice
and a ballot to the record owner of each affected parcel, a public hearing and the tabulation of
ballots weighted according to the proportional financial obligation of the affected party, and (iv) a
prohibition against fees and charges which are used for general governmental services, including
police, fire or library services, where the service is available to the public at large in substantially
the same manner as it is to property owners.
Reduction or Repeal of Taxes, Fees and Charges. Article XIIIC also removes limitations
on the initiative power in matters of reducing or repealing local taxes, assessments, fees or
charges. No assurance can be given that the voters of the City will not, in the future, approve an
initiative or initiatives which reduce or repeal local taxes, assessments, fees or charges currently
comprising a substantial part of the City’s General Fund. If such repeal or reduction occurs, the
City’s ability to pay debt service on the Notes could be adversely affected.
Burden of Proof. Article XIIIC provides that local government “bears the burden of proving
by a preponderance of the evidence that a levy, charge, or other exaction is not a tax, that the
amount is no more than necessary to cover the reasonable costs of the governmental activity,
and that the manner in which those costs are allocated to a payor bear a fair or reasonable
relationship to the payor’s burdens on, or benefits received from, the governmental activity.”
Similarly, Article XIIID provides that in “any legal action contesting the validity of a fee or charge,
the burden shall be on the agency to demonstrate compliance” with Article XIIID.
Impact on City’s General Fund. The approval requirements of Articles XIIIC and XIIID
reduce the flexibility of the City to raise revenues for the General Fund, and no assurance can be
given that the City will be able to impose, extend or increase the taxes, fees, charges or taxes in
the future that the City may need to meet increased expenditure needs.
The City does not believe that any material source of General Fund revenue is subject to
challenge under Articles XIIIC or XIIID.
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Judicial Interpretation. The interpretation and application of Articles XIIIC and XIIID will
ultimately be determined by the courts with respect to a number of the matters discussed below,
and it is not possible at this time to predict with certainty the outcome of such determination.
Expenditures and Appropriations
Article XIIIB of the California Constitution. In addition to the limits Article XIIIA imposes
on property taxes that may be collected by local governments, certain other revenues of the State
and local governments are subject to an annual “appropriations limit” or “Gann Limit” imposed by
Article XIIIB of the State Constitution, which effectively limits the amount of such revenues that
government entities are permitted to spend. Article XIIIB, approved by the voters in June 1979,
was modified substantially by Proposition 111 in 1990. The appropriations limit of each
government entity applies to “proceeds of taxes,” which consist of tax revenues, state subventions
and certain other funds, including proceeds from regulatory licenses, user charges or other fees
to the extent that such proceeds exceed “the cost reasonably borne by such entity in providing
the regulation, product or service.” “Proceeds of taxes” exclude tax refunds and some benefit
payments such as unemployment insurance. No limit is imposed on the appropriation of funds
which are not “proceeds of taxes,” such as reasonable user charges or fees, and certain other
non-tax funds.
Article XIIIB also does not limit appropriation of local revenues to pay debt service on
bonds existing or authorized by January 1, 1979, or subsequently authorized by the voters,
appropriations required to comply with mandates of courts or the federal government,
appropriations for qualified capital outlay projects, and appropriation by the State of revenues
derived from any increase in gasoline taxes and motor vehicle weight fees above January 1, 1990,
levels. The appropriations limit may also be exceeded in cases of emergency; however, the
appropriations limit for the three years following such emergency appropriation must be reduced
to the extent by which it was exceeded, unless the emergency arises from civil disturbance or
natural disaster declared by the Governor, and the expenditure is approved by two-thirds of the
legislative body of the local government.
The State and each local government entity have their own appropriations limit. Each year,
the limit is adjusted to allow for changes, if any, in the cost of living, the population of the
jurisdiction, and any transfer to or from another government entity of financial responsibility for
providing services. Each school district is required to establish an appropriations limit each year.
In the event that a school district’s revenues exceed its spending limit, the district may increase
its appropriations limit to equal its spending by taking appropriations limit from the State.
Proposition 111 requires that each agency’s actual appropriations be tested against its
limit every two years. If the aggregate “proceeds of taxes” for the preceding two-year period
exceed the aggregate limit, the excess must be returned to the agency’s taxpayers through tax
rate or fee reductions over the following two years.
Future Initiatives
Article XIIIA, Article XIIIB, Article XIIIC, Article XIIID and Proposition 111 were each
adopted as measures that qualified for the ballot pursuant to California’s initiative process. From
time to time other initiative measures could be adopted, further affecting City revenues or the
City’s ability to expend revenues. The nature and impact of these measures cannot be predicted
by the City.
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LEGAL OPINION
The statements of law and legal conclusions set forth in this Official Statement under the
heading “TAX MATTERS” have been reviewed by Bond Counsel. Bond Counsel's employment is
limited to a review of the legal proceedings required for the authorization of the Notes and to
rendering the opinion discussed below. Such opinion will not consider or extend to any
documents, agreements, representations, offering circulars or other material of any kind
concerning the Notes not mentioned in this paragraph. Bond Counsel takes no responsibility for
the accuracy, completeness or fairness of this Official Statement. Bond Counsel’s compensation
is contingent upon the delivery of the Notes. Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the City
by the City Attorney.

TAX MATTERS
In the opinion of Jones Hall, A Professional Law Corporation, San Francisco, California,
Bond Counsel, subject, however to the qualifications set forth below, under existing law, the
interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes and such
interest is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax
imposed on individuals and corporations, provided, however, that, for the purpose of computing
the alternative minimum tax imposed on corporations (as defined for federal income tax
purposes), such interest is taken into account in determining certain income and earnings.
The opinions set forth in the preceding paragraph are subject to the condition that the City
comply with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Tax Code")
that must be satisfied subsequent to the issuance of the Notes. The City has covenanted to
comply with each such requirement. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may
cause the inclusion of such interest in gross income for federal income tax purposes to be
retroactive to the date of issuance of the Notes.
If the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses and brokers) at which each
Note is sold is greater than the amount payable at maturity thereof, then such difference
constitutes "original issue premium" for purposes of federal income taxes and State of California
personal income taxes, de minimis original issue premium is disregarded. Under the Tax Code,
original issue premium is amortized on an annual basis over the term of the Note (said term being
the shorter of the Note's maturity date or its call date). The amount of original issue premium
amortized each year reduces the adjusted basis of the owner of the Note for purposes of
determining taxable gain or loss upon disposition. The amount of original issue premium on a
Note is amortized each year over the term to maturity of the Note on the basis of a constant
interest rate compounded on each interest or principal payment date (with straightline
interpolations between compounding dates). Amortized Note premium is not deductible for federal
income tax purposes. Owners of premium Notes, including purchasers who do not purchase in
the original offering, should consult their own tax advisors with respect to State of California
personal income tax and federal income tax consequences of owning such Notes.
If the initial offering price to the public (excluding bond houses and brokers) at which a
Note is sold is less than the amount payable at maturity thereof, then such difference constitutes
"original issue discount" for purposes of federal income taxes and State of California personal
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income taxes, de minimis original issue discount is disregarded. Under the Tax Code, original
issue discount is generally treated as interest excluded from federal gross income and exempt
from State of California personal income taxes to the extent properly allocable to each owner
thereof subject to the limitations described in the first paragraph of this section. However, in the
case of short-term tax-exempt obligations (such as the Notes), Notice 94-84 issued by the Internal
Revenue Service provides generally that, until the Service provides further guidance, taxpayers
may treat stated interest on certain short-term obligations, such as the Notes, either as includible
in stated redemption price at maturity or as not included in stated redemption price at maturity. A
taxpayer, however, must treat stated interest payable at maturity on all short-term tax-exempt
bonds in a consistent manner. A short-term tax-exempt bond is defined as a tax-exempt bond
with a term that is not more than one year from the date of issue.
Owners of discounted Notes, including purchasers who do not purchase in the original
offering, should consult their own tax advisors with respect to State of California personal income
tax and federal income tax consequences of owning such Notes.
In the further opinion of Bond Counsel, interest on the Notes is exempt from California
personal income taxes.
Owners of the Notes should also be aware that the ownership or disposition of, or the
accrual or receipt of interest on, the Notes may have federal or state tax consequences other than
as described above. Bond Counsel expresses no opinion regarding any federal or state tax
consequences arising with respect to the Notes other than as expressly described above.
A copy of the proposed form of opinion of Bond Counsel is attached hereto as
APPENDIX C.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
The City has covenanted for the benefit of the holders of the Notes to provide notices of
the occurrence of certain enumerated events. The notices of enumerated events will be filed by
the City with the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board. The specific nature of the information to
be contained in the notices of enumerated events is summarized under the caption “APPENDIX
D – Form of Continuing Disclosure Certificate.” These covenants have been made in order to
assist the purchaser of the Notes in complying with Rule 15c2- 12(b)(5) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Rule”).
The City and its related governmental entities have previously entered into numerous
disclosure undertakings under the Rule in connection with the issuance of long-term obligations
(See “APPENDIX B – The City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year
Ended June 30, 2016.” Notes to Financial Statements, Note 3”). In order to meet its continuing
disclosure obligations, the City retained NHA Advisors, LLC as dissemination agent. The City’s
prior dissemination agent, the City and the City's affiliated governmental entities have not, on a
handful of occasions during the past five years, fully complied, in all material respects, with the
City's disclosure undertakings.
Specifically, from fiscal years 2011-12 through 2012-13:
(i)
Audited financial statements and Annual Reports with respect to several series of
the City's bonds (or series of bonds of the City's affiliated governmental entities) were not
filed on a timely basis or were not filed. In several instances, the City (or its affiliated
governmental entities) submitted audited financial statements and annual reports to the
prior dissemination agent, but they were misfiled, not filed, or filed late to the applicable
information repository.
(ii)
Material event notices were not filed on a timely basis or were not filed in response
to changes to the underlying bond ratings of certain of the City's obligations and changes
to the credit ratings of bond insurance companies that insured its bonds.
(iii)
Annual Reports with respect to several series of the City's bonds (or series of
bonds of the City's affiliated governmental entities), failed to include all of the required
financial and operating data.
(iv)
The City failed to file on a timely basis notice that certain bonds had been defeased
and redeemed.
In addition, in the first half of 2014, material event notices were not filed in connection with
changes to the credit ratings of bond insurance companies that insured two series of the City’s
bonds.
Supplemental Annual Reports, notices of the rating changes and filings to correct all
known filing errors made by the prior dissemination agent, the City and the City's affiliated
governmental entities in their attempts to fully comply with the City's continuing disclosure were
filed in connection with a prior bond issuance and the City is currently in compliance with its
continuing disclosure undertakings.
To ensure future compliance with its continuing disclosure undertakings, the City has
developed procedures for including all required continuing disclosure information in the
15
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supplementary section of its audited financial statements. In addition, the City engaged NHA
Advisors, LLC to review this information annually to ensure compliance with its continuing
disclosure undertakings.
Neither the County nor any other entity other than the City shall have any obligation or incur
any liability whatsoever with respect to the performance of the City’s duties regarding continuing
disclosure.

ABSENCE OF MATERIAL LITIGATION
No litigation is pending or threatened concerning the validity of the Notes, and a certificate
to that effect will be furnished to the underwriter at the time of the original delivery of the Notes.
The City is not aware of any litigation pending or threatened questioning the political existence of
the City or contesting the City's ability to receive ad valorem taxes or to collect other Unrestricted
Moneys or contesting the City's ability to issue and retire the Notes.
There are a number of lawsuits and claims pending against the City. The aggregate
amount of the uninsured liabilities of the City, and the timing of any anticipated payments of
judgments that may result from suits and claims, will not, in the opinion of the City, materially
affect the finances of the City or impair its ability to repay the Notes. A certificate of the City to this
effect will be available at the time of original delivery of the Notes.

UNDERWRITING
The Notes were purchased by __________ (the “Underwriter”) at a price of $________
(representing $________ aggregate principal amount of the Notes plus a purchase premium of
$_________, less an Underwriter’s discount of $______). The purchase contract for the Notes
provides that the Underwriter will purchase all of the Notes if any are purchased, the obligation to
make such purchase being subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in such purchase
contract, the approval of certain legal matters by counsel and certain other conditions.
The Underwriter may offer and sell Notes to certain dealers and others at prices lower
than the offering price stated on the cover page hereof. The offering price may be changed from
time to time by the Underwriter.

MUNICIPAL ADVISOR
The City has retained NHA Advisors, LLC, San Rafael, California, as municipal advisor
(the “Municipal Advisor”) in connection with the preparation of this Official Statement and with
respect to the issuance of the Notes. The Municipal Advisor is not obligated to undertake, and
has not undertaken to make, an independent verification or assume responsibility for the
accuracy, completeness, or fairness of the information contained in this Official Statement. The
Municipal Advisor is a municipal advisory firm and is not engaged in the business of underwriting,
trading or distributing municipal securities or other public securities. The Municipal Advisor’s
compensation is contingent upon the delivery of the Notes.
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RATING
Moody’s Investor Services Inc. has assigned a rating to the Notes as shown on the cover
of this Official Statement. The City supplied certain information to the rating agency to be
considered in evaluating the Notes. The rating issued reflects only the views of such rating
agency, and any explanation of the significance of such rating should be obtained from the rating
agency. There is no assurance that the rating will be retained for any given period of time or that
the same will not be revised downward or withdrawn entirely by such rating agency if, in its
judgment, circumstances so warrant. Any downward revision or withdrawal of the rating obtained
may have an adverse effect on the market price of the Notes.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
The purpose of this Official Statement is to supply information to purchasers of the Notes.
Quotations from and summaries and explanations of the Notes and the Resolution and of statutes
and documents contained herein do not purport to be complete, and reference is hereby made to
the Resolution, statutes and documents for full and complete statements of their provisions.
Additional information can be obtained from the City’s Director of Finance.
This Official Statement speaks only as of its date, and the information presented in this
Official Statement is subject to change. Any statements in this Official Statement involving matters
of opinion, whether or not expressly stated, are intended as such and not as representations of
fact. This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement among the City
and any purchaser or owners of the Notes. This Official Statement and its distribution have been
authorized and approved by the City Council of the City.

CITY OF BERKELEY, CALIFORNIA

By:
City Manager
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APPENDIX A
CERTAIN INFORMATION CONCERNING THE CITY OF BERKELEY
Introduction
The City of Berkeley, California (the “City”) is located in Alameda County (the “County”)
on the east side of the San Francisco Bay, approximately 10 miles northeast of San Francisco.
The City encompasses a total area of approximately 19 square miles and had an estimated
population of 121,238 as of January 1, 2017, giving it the highest population density of any city in
the East Bay. The City is defined to a large degree, both culturally and economically, by the
presence of the University of California campus located on the eastern side of the City. The
University of California is a major component of the City's economy, employing approximately
12,700 full- and part-time workers.
The City is among the oldest in California. The City was founded in 1864, incorporated as
a town in 1878, and incorporated as a City in 1909. The City's first charter was adopted in 1895.
Population
Population figures for the City, County and State for the last five years are shown in the
following table.
CITY OF BERKELEY
Population Estimates
As of January 1
Year
2013
2014
2015
2016
2017

City of
Berkeley
116,118
117,383
118,780
119,915
121,238

County of
Alameda
1,555,241
1,574,497
1,594,569
1,627,865
1,645,359

State of
California
38,030,609
38,357,121
38,714,725
39,255,883
39,523,612

Source: State Department of Finance estimates (as of January 1).

City Government
The City operates under a Council-Manager form of government. The City is governed by
a nine-member City Council, eight of whom are elected by district, plus the Mayor, who is elected
on a city-wide basis. The Mayor and the City Council members serve four-year terms. The Council
appoints a City Manager who is responsible for daily administration of City affairs and preparation
and submission of the annual budget under the direction of the Mayor and the City Council for the
Mayor's submission to the City Council. The City Manager appoints a Director of Finance to
supervise the City's financial affairs. The Director of Finance also serves as the City's Treasurer.
The City Attorney, City Clerk and Director of Finance are appointed by the City Manager
subject to City Council approval. The City Auditor is elected at the same time as the Mayor.
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Member
Jesse Arreguin
Linda Maio
Cheryl Davila
Ben Bartlett
Kate Harrison
Sophie Hahn
Susan Wengraf
Kriss Worthington
Lori Droste

District
Mayor
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8

Term Expires
11/30/2020
11/30/2018
11/30/2020
11/30/2020
11/30/2018
11/30/2020
11/30/2020
11/30/2018
11/30/2018

CITY FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Accounting Policies and Financial Reporting
The accounts of the City are organized on the basis of funds and account groups, to
account for different activities. The operations of each fund are accounted for with a separate set
of self-balancing accounts that comprise its assets, liabilities, fund equity, revenues, and
expenditures or expenses, as appropriate. Government resources are allocated to and accounted
for in individual funds based upon the purposes for which they are to be spent and the means by
which the spending activities are controlled. The City’s general fund and other governmental fund
types use the modified accrual basis of accounting. All of the City’s other funds, including
proprietary fund types and fiduciary fund types use the accrual basis of accounting. The basis of
accounting for all funds is more fully explained in the “Notes to the Financial Statements”
contained in APPENDIX B.
The City Council employs, at the beginning of each fiscal year, an independent certified
public accountant who, at such time or times as specified by the City Council, at least annually,
and at such other times as he or she shall determine, examines the combined financial statements
of the City in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, including such tests of the
accounting records and such other auditing procedures as such accountant considers necessary.
As soon as practicable after the end of the fiscal year, a final audit and report is submitted by such
accountant to the City Council and a copy of the financial statements as of the close of the fiscal
year is published.
The City, all its funds and the funds of certain other component entities of the City are
audited annually by a certified public accounting firm. The firm of Badawi and Associates, Certified
Public Accounts, Oakland, California, is the City’s current auditor (the “Auditor”). The
comprehensive annual financial report of the City for fiscal year 2015-16 is attached hereto as
APPENDIX B. The City’s financial statements are public documents and are included within this
Official Statement without the prior approval of the Auditor.
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (“GASB”) published its Statement No. 34
“Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State and Local
Governments” on June 30, 1999. Statement No. 34 provides guidelines to auditors, state and
local governments and special purpose governments such as school districts and public utilities,
on new requirements for financial reporting for all governmental agencies in the United States.
Generally, the basic financial statements and required supplementary information should include
(i) Management’s Discussion and Analysis; (ii) government-wide financial statements prepared
using the economic measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting and fund financial
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statements prepared using both the current financial resources measurement focus and the
modified accrual method of accounting (governmental funds) and funds using the economic
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting (proprietary funds) and (iii) required
supplementary information. The City’s financial statements are prepared in conformance with the
requirements of Statement No. 34.
Comparative Financial Statements
The following tables provide a four-year history of the City’s Comparative Balance Sheet,
General Fund revenues, expenditures, transfers, and ending fund balances.
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CITY OF BERKELEY
GENERAL FUND BALANCE SHEET
(Fiscal Year Ending June 30)
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Actual
2012-13
ASSETS:
Cash and investments in treasury*
Receivables (net of allowance where
applicable):
Accounts
Interest
Taxes
Due from other funds
Due from Components Units
Notes receivable
Other
Total assets

Actual
2013-14

Actual
2014-15

Actual
2015-16

$59,334

$67,259

$74,532

$82,615

12,666
542
6,184
5,328
-3,648
553
88,255

13,472
608
6,355
2,415
-3,648
544
94,301

6,310
507
5,329
4,465
-3,648
477
96,267

7,072
534
9,421
2,920
-3,595
353
106,512

LIABILITIES:
Accounts payable
Accrued salaries and wages
Deposits held
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Tax and revenue anticipation notes
Total liabilities

4,771
2,456
902
11,068
3,146
25,000
47,342

4,974
2,941
943
-3,805
24,995
37,658

5,500
3,531
883
4,493
3,578
24,995
42,980

1,768
4,502
840
-3,706
24,995
35,811

FUND BALANCES
Reserved for:
Encumbrances/Assigned to
Notes receivable/Nonspendable

2,002
3,648

10,954
3,648

3,831
3,648

3,686
3,595

Unreserved/Unassigned, report in:
General fund
Total fund balances

35,261
40,912

39,214
45,692

45,810
53,289

57,743
65,025

$88,255

$94,301

$96,269

$106,512

Total liabilities and fund balances

* Cash and investments in treasury includes restricted cash and investments.
Source: City of Berkeley, Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports for 2012-13 through 2015-16
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CITY OF BERKELEY
STATEMENT OF GENERAL FUND
REVENUES, EXPENDITURES AND BALANCES
(Fiscal Year Ending June 30)
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Actual
2012-13

Actual
2013-14

Actual
2014-15

Actual
2015-16

Revised
Budget
2016-17

$109,027
545
9,605
8,288
8,342
120
1,810
1,707
522
139,966

$115,220
578
10,122
8,431
8,048
108
1,834
3,431
524
148,308

$120,869
494
10,686
9,899
5,943
537
1,821
2,349
439
153,037

$133,249
323
11,208
9,528
6,371
215
1,673
1,784
48
165,400

$130,478
675
10,807
8,397
7,280
144
1,827
2,200
170
161,978

27,038
80,898
1,383
6,475
5,156
6,231
1,884
103
129,259

26,345
83,295
1,087
6,602
5,260
6,631
1,990
106
131,315

27,953
84,925
1,193
6,761
5,452
6,647
1,949
85
134,967

28,244
89,076
1,337
7,354
5,848
6,057
2,325
372
140,512

39,263
91,524
2,034
9,528
5,724
6,798
2,542
200
157,613

Excess Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures

10,707

16,992

18,070

24,788

4,365

Transfers In(out)/Other

(7,164)

(12,213)

(10,472)

(13,052)

(15,798)

3,543

40,912

7,598

11,735

(11,433)

38,069
(700)

4,779
--

45,692
--

53,289
--

65,025

$45,692

$53,289

$65,025

$53,592

REVENUES:
Taxes
Licenses and Permits
Subvention and Grants/Intergovernmental
Service Fees
Fines and Forfeitures
Rents
Franchises
Interest
Other
TOTAL REVENUES
EXPENDITURES:
General Government
Public Safety
Highways and Streets
Health and Human Services
Culture-Recreation
Community Development
Economic Development
Debt Service
TOTAL EXPENDITURES

Net Change in Fund Balance
Fund Balance, July 1
Prior Period Adjustment
Fund Balance, June 30*

$40,912

* Totals may not add due to rounding.
Source: City of Berkeley Comprehensive Annual Financial Reports; City of Berkeley for Fiscal Year 2016-17 Budget.
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General Fund Budget
Budgetary Process and Administration. The City employs a two-year budget process.
In year one of the biennial budget cycle, the City Council formally adopts authorized
appropriations for the first fiscal year and approves “planned” appropriations for the second fiscal
year. In year two, the City Council considers revisions and formally adopts authorized
appropriations for the second fiscal year. Although the budget cycle covers a two-year period, the
City Charter requires that the City Council adopt an annual appropriations ordinance for each
budget year.
From about January to May of each year, the City Council meets in public to discuss
policies and priorities for the upcoming budget. The City Manager prepares a proposed budget
based on input from department heads, and presents this to the City Council by the first Monday
in May of a budget year or as fixed by the City Council. The City also maintains additional
budgetary controls to ensure compliance with the annual appropriated budget. The City Manager
is authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within funds as deemed necessary to meet the City’s
needs; however, revisions that alter the total budget or move amounts from one fund to another
must be approved by the City Council.
See “SECURITY FOR AND SOURCES OF PAYMENT OF THE NOTES – The City’s
Approach to Budgeting and Current Budget Status” in the body of this Official Statement.
Revenues and expenditures relating to the City’s general governmental operations are
budgeted and accounted for in the City’s general fund, including public safety, highways and
streets, health and welfare, culture and recreation, community development, housing and
economic development. General taxes and fees support most of these activities. The “business”
or proprietary activities of the City are accounted for in each of eight enterprise funds, which
include those established for Refuse Collection, Marina Operations, Sanitary Sewers, Clean
Storm Water, Permit Service Center, Off-Street Parking, Parking Meter, and Building Purchases
& Management. These activities are intended to be completely or largely self-supporting through
user fees and charges.
The balance of this Appendix is concerned with the operations and performance of the
City’s General Fund, unless otherwise noted.
Adopted Biennial Budget; Fiscal Year 2017 Mid-Year Budget Update. The City is
currently in the second year of its adopted fiscal year 2015-16 and 2016-17 budget (the “Fiscal
Year 2016 & 2017 Adopted Budget”). The Fiscal Year 2017 Mid-Year Budget Update projects
a $7,300,000 increase in General Fund revenues over the amounts contained in the adopted
budget for fiscal year 2016-17. The increase is due to an expected increase in property transfer
tax revenue of $7,000,000 (see “– Property Transfer Tax”), and in sales tax revenue of $300,000,
over the respective amounts budgeted in the Fiscal Year 2016 & 2017 Adopted Budget. The
Fiscal Year 2017 Mid-Year Budget Update also reports that General Fund expenditures are
tracking amounts budgeted in the Adjusted Budget approved by City Council on November 29,
2016, which included an additional appropriation of $16,200,000 for projects and programs that
were not completed in fiscal year 2015-16 and were carried forward into fiscal year 2016-17. In
addition, although several departments are projecting savings, these savings will be absorbed by
the Policy and Fire departments, which are projected to exceed their budgets by $1,100,000 and
$571,001, respectively. The majority of costs are tied to overtime tied to additional services and
increased hiring.
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General Fund Reserves
Establishment of General Fund Reserve. On December 13, 2016, the City Council
adopted a General Fund reserve policy, establishing a General Fund reserve (the “Reserve”), to
prepare for the impact of economic cycles and catastrophic events and assure fluctuations in
revenue do not impede the City’s ability to meet expenditure obligations. When revenues fail to
meet the City’s normal operating requirements, or the need for disbursements temporarily
exceeds receipts, the Reserve, upon a majority vote of the City Council, may be used in
accordance with the standards set forth herein.
The Reserve is composed of two elements: a Stability Reserve and a Catastrophic
Reserve:
1)
A Stability Reserve is maintained to mitigate loss of service delivery and financial
risks associated with unexpected revenue shortfalls during a single fiscal year or during a
prolonged recessionary period. The purpose of the Stability Reserve is to provide fiscal stability
in response to unexpected downturns or revenue shortfalls, and not to serve as a funding source
for new programs or projects.
2)
A Catastrophic Reserve is maintained for the purpose of sustaining General Fund
operations in the case of a public emergency, such as a natural disaster or other catastrophic
event. The Catastrophic Reserve will be used to respond to extreme, onetime events, such as
earthquakes, fires, floods, civil unrest, and terrorist attacks. The Catastrophic Reserve will not be
accessed to meet operational shortfalls or to fund new programs or projects.
The Reserve is accounted for in the Unassigned fund balance of the City’s balance sheet.
Target Reserve Levels. Fifty-five percent of the Reserve is allocated to the Stability
Reserve and 45% to the Catastrophic Reserve.
The short-term goal for the Reserve is a minimum of 13.8% of 2016-17 adopted General
Fund revenues; the intermediate goal for the Reserve is a minimum of 16.7% of adopted General
Fund revenues by the end of fiscal year 2019-20 (the “Intermediate Goal”); the long-term goal
for the Reserve is a minimum of 20% of the adopted General Fund revenues, to be achieved
within no more than 10 years of the adopted of the General Fund Reserve Policy (“Long-Term
Goal”). Based on a risk assessment (according to best practices), to be updated at least every
five years, the City Council may consider increasing or lowering the Reserve level.
Replenishment of the General Fund Reserve. The City Manager will recommend a
replenishment schedule for all monies proposed for appropriation from the Reserve. The
replenishment schedule will be adopted simultaneous with the appropriation to withdraw Reserve
funds or, if infeasible due to emergency circumstances, no more than three months from the date
of the withdrawal appropriation. Repayment shall begin no more than five years from the date of
withdrawal and be completed within 10 years from the date of withdrawal.
While staff envisions that, in most cases, repayment will start as soon as possible, the
repayment guidelines are meant to reflect a commitment to maintain a sufficient Reserve, while
also recognizing that a use of Reserve amounts may occur during an economic downturn and it
may be necessary to postpone repayment while the economy improves.
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State Budget and its Impact on the City
Fiscal Year 2016-17 and Proposed Fiscal Year 2017-18 State Budgets. Information
about the fiscal year 2016-17 revised State budget, proposed fiscal year 2017-18 State budget,
and other State budgets is regularly available at various State-maintained websites. An impartial
analysis of the budget is posted by the Legislative Analyst Office at www.lao.ca.gov. In addition,
various State official statements, many of which contain a summary of the current and past State
budgets, may be found at the website of the State Treasurer, www.treasurer.ca.gov. The
information referred to in this paragraph is prepared by the respective State agency maintaining
each website and not by the City or Underwriter, and the City and Underwriter take no
responsibility for the continued accuracy of the Internet addresses or for the accuracy or
timeliness of information posted there, and such information is not incorporated in this Official
Statement by these references.
Dissolution of Redevelopment Agencies. State legislation enacted as part of the 2011
Budget Act, and upheld by the California Supreme Court, resulted in the formal dissolution of
redevelopment agencies, including the Berkeley Redevelopment Agency (the “Former
Redevelopment Agency”), effective as of February 1, 2012. The impact on the City’s General
Fund of the dissolution of the Former Redevelopment Agency is minimal because the City is in
the process of winding down its redevelopment program, and the funding the City received from
the Former Redevelopment Agency prior to its dissolution only supported 1.5 full-time employees.
Ad Valorem Property Taxes
Tax Levies and Collections. Property taxes account for approximately 29% of the City’s
general fund revenues for fiscal year 2015-16. Taxes are levied for each fiscal year on taxable
real and personal property that is situated in the City as of the preceding January 1. A
supplemental roll is developed when property changes hands, which produces additional
revenue.
A ten percent penalty attaches to any delinquent payment for secured roll taxes. In
addition, property on the secured roll with respect to which taxes are delinquent becomes taxdefaulted. Such property may thereafter be redeemed by payment of the delinquent taxes and
the delinquency penalty, plus a redemption penalty to the time of redemption. If taxes are unpaid
for a period of five years or more, the property is subject to auction sale by the County Tax
Collector.
In the case of unsecured property taxes, a 10% penalty attaches to delinquent taxes on
property on the unsecured roll, and an additional penalty of 1.5% per month begins to accrue
beginning November 1 of the fiscal year, and a lien is recorded against the assesse. The taxing
authority has four ways of collecting unsecured personal property taxes: (1) a civil action against
the taxpayer; (2) filing a certificate in the office of the County Clerk specifying certain facts in order
to obtain a judgment lien on specific property of the taxpayer; (3) filing a certificate of delinquency
for recording in the County Recorder’s office in order to obtain a lien on specified property of the
taxpayer; and (4) seizure and sale of personal property, improvements or possessory interests
belonging or assessed to the assesse.
The County levies (except for levies to support prior voter-approved indebtedness) and
collects all property taxes for property falling within that county’s taxing boundaries.
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The following is a table summarizing the historical and current assessed valuation of the
taxable property in the City.
CITY OF BERKELEY
ASSESSED VALUATION
2007-08 TO 2016-17
Fiscal Year
2007-08
2008-09
2009-10
2010-11
2011-12
2012-13
2013-14
2014-15
2015-16
2016-17
Source:

Local Secured
$11,160,531,045
11,918,409,630
12,085,578,735
12,147,575,627
12,525,929,662
12,834,926,300
13,686,258,913
14,116,003,890
15,224,697,461
16,200,483,693

Utility

Unsecured

$1,324,910
473,910
473,910
555,664
555,664
555,664
555,664
630,615
388,860
388,860

$606,785,227
671,983,004
720,264,455
677,887,524
667,789,011
673,174,230
677,170,723
658,143,878
702,428,523
711,062,469

Total

Percent Change

$11,768,641,182
12,590,866,544
12,806,317,100
12,826,018,815
13,194,274,337
13,508,656,194
14,363,985,300
14,774,778,383
15,927,514,844
16,911,935,022

-6.99%
1.71
0.15
2.87
2.38
6.33
2.86
7.80
6.18

Alameda County Auditor-Controller

The City does not participate in the Teeter Plan. The following table shows secured tax
charges and delinquencies within the City during the past 10 years.
CITY OF BERKELEY
SECURED TAX CHARGES AND DELINQUENCIES
2006-07 TO 2015-16
(Dollar amounts in thousands)
Fiscal Year
2006-07
2007-08
2008-09
2009-10
2010-11
2011-12
2012-13
2013-14
2014-15
2015-16

Amount Delinquent
June 30

Secured Tax Charge(1)
$33,552,146.54
36,038,297.51
38,438,858.24
38,834,067.28
38,858,160.99
40,085,111.77
40,863,072.01
43,482,172.03
45,452,269.29
48,936,168.63

$1,189,361.30
1,680,289.97
1,757,281.78
1,222,174.35
937,557.29
814,536.14
588,607.19
491,490.18
477,676.28
607,465.93

(1) 1% General Fund apportionment.
Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.
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% Delinquent
June 30
-4.66%
4.57
3.15
2.41
2.03
1.44
1.13
1.05
1.24
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Tax Rates. The table below shows historical property tax rates within the City:
CITY OF BERKELEY
TYPICAL TAX RATE PER $100 ASSESSED VALUATION
(TRA 13-000 – 2016-17 Assessed Valuation: $16,911,935,022)

Countywide Rate
Berkeley Unified School District Bonds
Peralta Community College District
Bay Area Rapid Transit
East Bay Regional Park District
East Bay Municipal Utility District
City of Berkeley
Total

Fiscal
Year
2012-13
$1.0000
.1406
.0434
.0043
.0051
.0068
.0470
$1.2472

Fiscal
Year
2013-14
$1.0000
.1544
.0419
.0075
.0078
.0066
.0535
$1.2717

Fiscal
Year
2014-15
$1.0000
.1353
.0412
.0045
.0085
.0047
.0505
$1.2447

Fiscal
Year
2015-16
$1.0000
.1321
.0337
.0026
.0067
.0034
.0433
$1.2218

Fiscal
Year
2016-17
$1.0000
.1327
.0256
.0080
.0032
.0028
.0445
$1.2168

Source: Alameda County Auditor-Controller

Principal Taxpayers. The twenty largest taxpayers in the City, as shown on the 2016-17
secured tax roll, and the amounts of their assessed valuation for all taxing jurisdictions within the
City, are shown below.
CITY OF BERKELEY
LARGEST 2016-17 LOCAL SECURED TAXPAYERS

1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.
18.
19.
20.

2016-17
% of
Property Owner
Primary Land Use Assessed Valuation
Total (1)
Bayer Healthcare LLC
Industrial
$ 292,944,903 1.80%
EQR Acton Berkeley LP
Apartments
151,278,534
0.93
Granite Library Gardens LP
Apartments
73,918,097
0.45
Apartments
70,946,704
0.43
CVBAF ACQ LLC
Hanumandla J. and Hanumandla R. Reddy Trust Apartments
67,199,275
0.41
CPF Berkeley Varsity LLC
Apartments
50,920,000
0.31
Essex Berkeley 4th Street LP
Apartments
49,127,223
0.30
SC Hillside Berkeley Inc.
Apartments
48,496,723
0.30
1950 MLK LLC
Apartments
38,182,929
0.23
Office Building
37,462,707
0.23
Ed Roberts Campus
Fifth & Potter Street Associates LLC
Industrial
37,292,629
0.23
Shopping Center
33,831,174
0.21
DS Gilman Village LP
7th Street Properties II
Industrial
29,929,087
0.18
Archstone Southwest Berkeley LLC
Apartments
29,837,576
0.18
Industrial
29,467,257
0.18
Numano Sake Company Inc.
BVP Fulton LLC
Apartments
29,456,798
0.18
2600 Tenth Street LLC
Office Building
29,035,743
0.18
Mach I GE Campanile LLC
Apartments
28,626,515
0.18
Garr Land & Resource Management, Inc.
Industrial
28,565,822
0.18
Hotel 28,018,538
0.17
Raaj Berkeley Owner LLC
$1,184,538,234
7.26%

______________________
(1) 2016-17 Local Secured Assessed Valuation: $16,317,650,893.
Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.
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Other General Fund Revenues
In addition to property taxes, the City has several other major tax and fee revenue sources,
as described below. The following table summarizes the City’s actual general fund revenues from
fiscal year 2012-13 through fiscal year 2015-16 (actuals) and fiscal year 2016-17 (budgeted)
revenues.
CITY OF BERKELEY
GENERAL FUND REVENUES

Real Property
Property Transfer Tax
Unsecured Property
Sales Tax
Business License
Hotel Tax
Utility Users Tax
Vehicle In-Lieu
Parking Fines
Moving Violations
Interest
Service Fees
Soda Tax
SUB-TOTAL
Other Revenues
TOTAL

Actual
Revenue
FY 2013
$40,210,337
11,663,871
2,298,522
15,708,700
15,386,878
5,562,168
14,350,002
8,738,075
8,484,032
248,798
3,320,372
8,170,473
-$134,142,228
16,023,652
$150,165,880

Actual
Revenue
FY 2014
$42,181,381
14,017,607
2,496,321
16,500,324
15,370,377
6,169,161
14,321,714
9,277,702
6,850,399
670,363
2,465,334
8,463,613
-$138,784,296
16,431,847
$155,216,143

Actual
Revenue
FY 2015
$44,187,339
15,178,243
2,602,010
16,708,652
16,102,327
7,038,640
14,302,057
9,616,322
6,932,288
673,244
2,650,102
9,556,323
242,986
$145,547,547
18,450,547
$163,997,992

Actual
Revenue
FY 2016
$48,046,766
17,452,190
2,661,235
17,656,894
18,089,403
7,813,366
14,211,318
10,308,802
6,134,784
252,752
2,465,654
9,439,102
1,712,891
$154,532,266
19,823,406
$174,355,672

Revised
Budget
Revenue
FY 2017
$48,715,854
17,500,000
2,936,296
18,101,700
16,483,200
7,152,440
14,291,500
10,269,057
7,017,500
235,069
2,200,00
8,397,308
1,600,000
154,899,9924
16,171,567
$171,071,491

Source: City of Berkeley FY 2017 Mid-Year Budget Update; City of Berkeley Budget Office. Revenues were recorded using the budget
basis of accounting (i.e Cash).

Sales and Use Tax. The sales tax is an excise tax imposed on retailers for the privilege
of selling or leasing tangible personal property. The use tax is an excise tax imposed for the
storage, use, or other consumption of tangible personal property purchased from any retailer. The
total sales tax rate within the City is currently 9.25%. The proceeds of sales and uses taxes
imposed within the City are distributed by the State to various agencies, with the City receiving
1.0% of the amount collected.
Collection of the sales and use tax is administered by the California State Board of
Equalization. Under its procedures, the State Board of Equalization projects receipts of the sales
and use tax on a quarterly basis and remits an advance of the receipts of the sales and use tax
to the City on a monthly basis. The amount of each monthly advance is based upon the State
Board of Equalization’s quarterly projection. During the last month of each quarter, the State
Board of Equalization adjusts the amount remitted to reflect the actual receipts of the sales and
use tax for the previous quarter. The Board of Equalization receives an administrative fee based
on the cost of services provided by the Board to the City in administering the City’s sales tax,
which is deducted from revenue generated by the sales and use tax before it is distributed to the
City.
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Total taxable sales during calendar year 2015 in the City were reported to be $1.604
billion, a 3.7% increase over the total taxable sales of $1.547 billion reported during calendar year
2014. Annual figures are not yet available for 2016.
CITY OF BERKELEY
TAXABLE TRANSACTIONS
(Figures in Thousands)
Retail and Food Services:
Apparel Stores
Gen. Merchandise Stores
Food Stores
Eating and Drinking Places
Home Furnishings and Appliances
Bldg. Materials, Farm Implements
Auto Dealers, Auto Supplies
Gas/Service Stations
Other Retail Stores
Total Retail and Food Services
All Other Outlets
TOTAL ALL OUTLETS

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

$58,189
9,796
99,355
247,864
60,559
79,168
111,874
96,585
252,917
$1,016,307
306,720
$1,323,027

$58,945
10,984
102,640
274,112
63,544
83,947
129,075
104,802
241,548
$1,069,598
353,778
$1,423,376

$58,294
11,876
113,764
286,626
68,097
90,090
124,818
99,403
240,873
1,093,841
365,931
$1,459,772

$59,369
12,292
123,572
323,125
74,682
90,104
126,527
94,630
248,626
1,152,938
394,169
$1,547,107

$57,048
15,165
133,916
347,926
74,514
98,958
125,716
83,285
255,133
1,191,661
413,156
$1,604,817

Source: State Board of Equalization

Factors that have historically affected sales tax revenues include the overall economic
growth of the Bay Area, competition from neighboring cities, the growth of specific industries
within the City, the City’s business attraction and retention efforts, and catalog and Internet sales.
In fiscal year 2015-16, revenues from sales and use taxes increased by 5.7% from fiscal year
2014-15. The 2017 Mid-Year Budget Update projects that sales tax revenues will be
approximately $18.1 million, which is $300,000 higher than the $17.8 million budgeted in the
Fiscal Year 2016 & 2017 Adopted Budget.
Utility Users Tax. The City imposes a 7.5% tax on users of gas, electricity and telephone,
as well as cellular telephone services for billing addresses within the City. The tax is not applicable
to State, County, or City agencies, or to insurance companies and banks. Some of the factors
affecting this revenue stream include consumer demand for these utilities, legislative and
regulatory action, rate changes, and the evolution of technology. Telecommunications and cable
generated approximately 24% of this revenue in fiscal year 2015-16, with revenue from gas and
electricity usage generating approximately 76%. Electricity and gas rates are expected to be
higher, but reductions in usage should partially offset the effect of the rate increases. In fiscal year
2015-16, revenues from utility users taxes decreased by 0.63% from fiscal year 2014-15.
Business License Tax. The City requires all businesses within the City to be licensed
and imposes a business license tax on all business locations and a new license registration fee
on applicants for a new license. The annual tax is generally determined based on the type of
business and the business’s gross receipts. The tax rate varies between $0.60 per $1,000 gross
receipts for grocers, on the low end, and $25.00 per $1,000 gross receipts for cannabis clubs on
the high end. Most types of businesses are required to pay a minimum tax of at least $51 per
year. The overall revenue from this tax is dependent on the number of license renewals each year
and the growth of businesses and industries within the City and the Bay Area more generally. In
fiscal year 2015-16, revenues from the business license tax increased by 12.34% from fiscal year
2014-15.
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Property Transfer Tax. The City collects a 1.5% tax on the value of any documented sale
or transfer of real property within the City. The tax is due when the transfer is recorded with the
County. Title companies collect the tax as part of the sale closing process and remit the funds to
the County when sales or transfers are finalized. The County remits the amounts due monthly,
and the amounts are credited to the general fund. A buyer of residential housing built before 1989
may voluntarily choose to reserve up to one-third of the transfer tax to perform seismic upgrades.
Buyers typically have up to one year to complete the work and file for a rebate. Previously the title
companies held the reserved amount in escrow until the work was completed, but since May
2007, the City has held the money in escrow accounts, with the interest going to the City. In fiscal
year 2015-16, revenues from property transfer taxes increased by 14.98% from fiscal year 201415. The 2017 Mid-Year Budget Update projects that property transfer tax revenues will be
$17,500,000, a $7,000,000 increase over the $10,500,000 budgeted in the Fiscal Year 2016 &
2017 Adopted Budget.
It is the City Council’s policy that property transfer tax in excess of $10.5 million is treated
as one-time revenue to be transferred to the Capital Improvement Fund for capital infrastructure
needs.
Parking Fines. The City issues and adjudicates citations and civil penalties for parking
violations through its own administrative structure. It has a great degree of control over the
administration of parking fines, although issuing agencies within the County try to standardize
parking penalties to the extent possible. Revenue from parking fines is affected by the penalties
imposed for violations, the number of employees issuing tickets, how many tickets employees are
able to issue, and the number of working parking meters, among other factors. Currently, the City
must remit an additional $12.50 per citation to the State/County for State and County construction
funds, Maddy emergency medical fund, and DNA identification fund. In fiscal year 2015-16,
revenues from parking fines decreased by 1.83% from fiscal year 2014-15.
Vehicle in Lieu Fees. Vehicle license fees (“VLF”) imposed for the operation of vehicles
on state highways are collected by the State Department of Motor Vehicles in lieu of personal
property taxes on vehicles. In connection with the offset of the VLF, the State Legislature
authorized appropriations from the State General Fund to “backfill” the offset so that local
governments, which receive all of the vehicle license fee revenues, would not experience any loss
of revenues. The legislation that established the VLF offset program also provided that if there
were insufficient State General Fund moneys to fully “backfill” the VLF offset, the percentage
offset would be reduced proportionately (i.e., the license fee payable by drivers would be
increased) to assure that local governments would not be underfunded.
As part of the 2004 Budget Act negotiations, an agreement was made between the State
and local government officials under which the VLF rate was permanently reduced from 2% to
0.65%. In order to protect local governments, the reduction in VLF revenue to cities and counties
from this rate change was replaced by an increase in the amount of property tax they receive.
Commencing in fiscal year 2004-05, local governments began to receive their full share of
replacement property taxes, and those replacement property taxes now enjoy constitutional
protection against certain transfers by the State because of the approval of Proposition 1A at the
November 2004 election.
As a part of its fiscal year 2009-10 budget, California increased the vehicle license fee
from 0.65% to 1.15% for registration fees due on or after the May 19, 2009 special election. This
provision expired on July 1, 2011. On July 1, 2011, vehicle license fees returned to 0.65%, and
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the City is unaware of any current State legislative efforts likely to increase these in fees in the
future.
In fiscal year 2015-16, the VLF revenues increased by 7.20% from fiscal year 2014-15.
Sugar Tax. In 2015, the voters approved a one-cent per ounce excise tax on sugarsweetened beverages. In fiscal year 2015-16 revenues from the soda tax were approximately
$1.8 million. The Fiscal Year 2017 Mid-Year Budget Update projects that the City will receive
$1.6 million in revenues in fiscal year 2016-17 from the soda tax.
Other Revenues. The City also collects additional general fund revenues from franchise
fees, transient occupancy taxes, ambulance fees, and other more minor sources. Under the City’s
cable and electric and gas franchise fee arrangements, the local cable provider pays an annual
franchise fee of 5% of gross revenues, and the electricity and gas providers pay the greater of
2% of gross receipts attributable to miles of line operated or 0.5% of gross receipts. The transient
occupancy tax, also known as the hotel tax, is a 12% tax on the room charge for rental of transient
lodging; it is paid by the hotel guest. The City also has an agreement with the County to be the
exclusive provider of all emergency ground ambulance services within the City; the specific
ambulance fee depends on the type of service delivered and is billed to clients or their insurance
companies. Finally, other more minor revenue sources include payments for moving violations,
interest on existing funds, and other service fees.
Retirement Programs
PERS Plan Description. The City contributes to three plans in California Public
Employees’ Retirement System (“PERS”). The first plan covers all of the City’s full-time and parttime benefited sworn uniformed fire employees and all chiefs (and is referred to as the Safety Fire
Plan in this Official Statement). The second covers all of the City’s full-time and part-time benefited
sworn uniformed police employees and all chiefs (and is referred to as the Safety Police Plan in
this Official Statement). The third plan covers all remaining eligible City employees (and is referred
to as the Miscellaneous Plan in this Official Statement). These plans are agent multiple-employer
defined benefit pension plans administered by PERS, which acts as a common investment and
administrative agent for participating public employers within the State of California.
PERS Plan Eligibility. For a more detailed discussion of the eligibility requirements for
the City’s PERS retirement plans, see Appendix B, Note III(C).
PERS Plan Contributions. The City is required to contribute the actuarially determined
remaining amounts necessary to fund the benefits for its members. The actuarial methods and
assumptions used are those adopted by the PERS Board of Administration (the “Board of
Administration”). The required employer contribution rate for fiscal year 2015-16 was 24.0%,
36.6%, and 48.6% of annual covered payroll for Miscellaneous Plan, Safety Fire Plan and Safety
Police Plan employees, respectively; for fiscal year 2016-17, the rates are 25.9%, 38.8% and
52.1%, respectively; for fiscal year 2017-18, the rates are 27.90%, 39.90%, and 56.60%,
respectively. The contribution requirements of the plan members are established by State statute,
and the employer contribution rates are established and may be amended by PERS.
Implementation of GASB Nos. 68. Commencing with fiscal year ended June 30, 2015,
the City implemented the provisions of GASB Statement Nos. 68, which require certain new
pension disclosures in the notes to its audited financial statements commencing with the audit for
fiscal year 2014-15. Statement No. 68 generally requires the City to recognize its proportionate
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share of the unfunded pension obligation by recognizing a net pension liability measured as of a
date (the measurement date) no earlier than the end of its prior fiscal year. As a result of the
implementation of GASB Statement Nos. 68, the City reflected a restatement of its beginning net
position as of July 1, 2014.
For a more detailed discussion of the eligibility requirements for the City’s retirement plans,
see Appendix B, Note III(C) for detailed information about the actuarial assumptions underlying
the contributions.
The City’s fiscal year 2015-16 contributions to the pension plans and the funded status of
the pension plans are set forth below.

Fiscal Year
Total Pension
Ended
Liability
PERS – Miscellaneous Plan
6/30/2016
902,228,876

Plan
Fiduciary Net
Position as a
Percentage
of the Total
Pension
Liability

Covered
Employee
Payroll

Plan Net
Pension
Liability as a
Percentage
of Covered
Employee
Payroll

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position

Contributions
Employer

Net Pension
Liability

$641,339,412

$20,032,929

$260,889,464

71.08%

$85,480,937

305.20%

$176,593,232

$5,967,197

$70,111,308

71.58%

$16,185,414

433.18%

PERS – Public Safety Police Plan
6/30/2016
$372,226,444
$226,135,306

$10,777,599

$146,091,138

60.75%

$22,289,585

655.42%

PERS – Public Safety Fire Plan
6/30/2016
$246,704,540

Recent Actions by PERS. At its April 17, 2013, meeting, the Board of Administration
approved a recommendation to change the PERS amortization and smoothing policies. Prior to
this change, PERS employed an amortization and smoothing policy that spread investment
returns over a 15-year period with experience gains and losses paid for over a rolling 30-year
period. After this change, PERS will employ an amortization and smoothing policy that will pay for
all gains and losses over a fixed 30-year period with the increases or decreases in the rate spread
directly over a 5-year period. The new amortization and smoothing policy was used for the first
time in the June 30, 2013, actuarial valuations in setting employer contribution rates for fiscal year
2015-16.
On February 18, 2014, the Board of Administration approved new demographic actuarial
assumptions based on a 2013 study of recent experience. The largest impact, applying to all
benefit groups, is a new 20-year mortality projection reflecting longer life expectancies and that
longevity will continue to increase. Because retirement benefits will be paid out for more years,
the cost of those benefits will increase as a result. The Board of Administration also assumed
earlier retirements for Police 3%@50, Fire 3%@55, and M iscellaneous 2.7%@55 and 3%@60,
which will increase costs for those groups. As a result of these changes, rates will increase
beginning in fiscal year 2016-17 (based on the June 30, 2014 valuation) with full impact in fiscal
year 2020-21.
On November 18, 2015, the Board of Administration adopted a funding risk mitigation
policy intended to incrementally lower its discount rate - its assumed rate of investment return - in
years of good investment returns, help pay down the pension fund's unfunded liability, and provide
greater predictability and less volatility in contribution rates for employers. The policy establishes
a mechanism to reduce the discount rate by a minimum of 0.05 percentage points to a maximum
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of 0.25 percentage points in years when investment returns outperform the existing discount rate,
currently 7.5%, by at least four percentage points. PERS staff modeling anticipates the policy will
result in a lowering of the discount rate to 6.5% in about 21 years, improve funding levels gradually
over time and cut risk in the pension system by lowering the volatility of investment returns. More
information about the funding risk mitigation policy can be accessed through PERS’ web site at
the following website address:
https://www.calpers.ca.gov/page/newsroom/calpersnews/2015/adopts-funding-risk-mitigation-policy. The reference to this Internet website is
provided for reference and convenience only. The information contained within the website may
not be current, has not been reviewed by the City and is not incorporated in this Official Statement
by reference.
On December 21, 2016, the Board of Administration voted to lower its discount rate from
the current 7.5% to 7.0% over the next three years according to the following schedule.
Fiscal Year
2017-18
2018-19
2019-20

Discount Rate
7.375%
7.250
7.000

For public agencies like the City, the new discount rate would take effect July 1, 2018.
Lowering the discount rate means employers that contract with PERS to administer their pension
plans will see increases in their normal costs and unfunded actuarial liabilities. Active members
hired after January 1, 2013, under the Public Employees' Pension Reform Act will also see their
contribution rates rise. The three-year reduction of the discount rate will result in average
employer rate increases of about 1 percent to 3 percent of normal cost as a percent of payroll for
most miscellaneous retirement plans, and a 2 percent to 5 percent increase for most safety plans.
Additionally, many PERS employers will see a 30 to 40 percent increase in their current unfunded
accrued liability payments. These payments are made to amortize unfunded liabilities over 20
years to bring the pension fund to a fully funded status over the long-term.
Dollar Contribution Based on Projected PERS Rate Increases. The City’s projected
annual financial contributions as a result of the PERS rate changes for the next five years are
shown in the table below, with dollar amounts shown in millions:
2016-17
Budgeted(1)
Miscellaneous(2)
Police
Fire
Total
(1)
(2)

$31.08
12.17
6.08
$49.33

2017-18
Projected(1)
$32.33
13.22
6.67
$52.23

2018-19
Projected
$31.80
14.35
7.44
$53.59

2019-20
Projected
$34.71
15.41
8.13
$58.25

2020-21
Projected
$37.82
16.28
8.63
$62.73

Fiscal year 2016-17 and 2017-18 are based on CalPERS' actual rates. Fiscal year 2018-19 through 2020-21
are based on the actuary's projections. Rates used reflect current MOU agreements.
Miscellaneous includes the 8% employee share paid by the City on behalf of the employees and negotiated
employee contributions to the City’s rate.

Berkeley Police Retirement Income Benefit Plan. Up to December 22, 2012, the City
maintained the Berkeley Police Retirement Income Benefit Plan (“BPRIBP”), a single-employer
defined benefit income plan, for its police retirees and surviving spouses. Effective September
19, 2012, police retired on or after this date are no longer covered by BPRIBP. The City replaced
this plan with the “Retiree Health Premium Assistance Coverage Plan.”
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The City’s fiscal year 2015-16 contribution to the BPRIBP and the funded status of the
BPRIBP is set forth below.

Fiscal Year
Total Pension Plan Fiduciary Contributions
Ended
Liability
Net Position
Employer
Berkeley Police Retirement Income Benefit Plan
6/30/2016 $76,422,898
$6,552,208
$1,943,978

Net Pension
Liability

Plan
Fiduciary Net
Position as a
Percentage
of the Total
Pension
Liability

$69,870,690

Covered
Employee
Payroll

8.57%

Plan Net
Pension
Liability as a
Percentage
of Covered
Employee
Payroll

$19,428,123

10.006%

For a more detailed discussion of the BPRIP, see Appendix B, Note IV(1).
Peace Officers Research Association of California. Effective December 23, 2012, the
City established a new sick leave program called Peace Officers Research Association of
California (“PORAC”). If a sworn member of the Berkeley Police department has an accrued sick
leave balance on December 23, 2012 that exceeds 200 hours, one half of all those hours in
excess of 200 shall be maintained in a separate account. The financial value of those hours shall
be converted and deposited into the employee’s PORAC medical trust account over five
successive years in equal installments commencing on January 1, 2013. The conversion was at
the employee’s rate of pay on December 23, 2012. The City may accelerate the payment of hours
to be converted. The remaining fifty percent of the sick leave balance in excess of 200 hours was
credited into the employee’s separate “catastrophic/service time” bank no later than February 1,
2013, up to a maximum of 500 hours.
The City’s contribution to PORAC for fiscal year ending June 30, 2016 was $711,068.
Safety Members Pension Fund. In addition, the City maintains the Safety Members
Pension Fund (“SMPF”), a defined benefit plan for fire and police officers who retired prior to
March 1973. In March 1973, all active fire and police officers were transferred from SMPF to
PERS. The City pays the benefits to SMPF members on a pay-as-you-go basis, primarily through
a Funding Agreement, purchased by the Berkeley Civic Improvement Corporation on behalf of
the City in 1989. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2016, the City’s contribution to SMPF was
$1,104,309.
The funded status of the SMPF as of June 30, 2016, the most recent actuarial date, is set
forth below:

Actuarial
Actuarial
Valuation
Asset
Date
Value
Berkeley Safety Members Pension Fund
6/30/2016
$662,934

Actuarial
Accrued
Liability-Entry
Age
$3,764,006

Unfunded
Actuarial
Accrued
LiabilityUAAL

Funded
Ratio

$3,101,072

17.61%

Covered
Payroll
N/A

For a more detailed discussion of the SMPF, see Appendix B, Note IV(2).
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Post-Employment Health Benefits
The City offers certain post-employment health benefits to retirees. There are three plans:
(i) the City of Berkeley Fire Employees Retiree Health Plan (“FRHF”), (ii) the City of Berkeley
Miscellaneous Employees Retiree Health Plan (“RHPAP”) and (iii) the Police Retiree Premium
Assistance Plan (“PRPAP”).
The City has adopted Government Accounting Standards Board Statement 45 which
requires governmental agencies to change their accounting for Other Post-Employment Benefits
(“OPEB”) from pay-as-you-go to an accrual basis.
See Appendix B, Note IV for information about the City’s OPEB liabilities.
City of Berkeley Fire Employees Retiree Health Plan. The FRFH is a single-employer
defined benefit medical plan. To be eligible for benefits, sworn Fire employees must retire from
the City on or after July 1, 1997, be vested in a PERS pension, and retire from the City on or after
age 50. Benefits commence immediately upon retirement. Benefits are payable for the retiree’s
lifetime and continue for his or her covered spouse’s/domestic partner’s lifetime. The amount the
City contributes toward the Fire Employees Retiree Health Plan is 4.5% per year regardless of
the amount of increase in the underlying premium rate. The establishment and amendments of
benefit provisions are negotiated between the employee bargaining units and the City Labor
Negotiating Team, and are approved by the City Manager and City Council. As of July 1, 2016,
there were 125 active employees, 35 retirees deferred and 62 retirees receiving benefits.
The City’s targeted funding policy is equal to the service cost for active employees plus
an amount to amortize unfunded liabilities over 30 years (rolling 30-year amortization) as a level
percentage of payroll. The City strives to contribute the annual required contribution of the
employer (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB
Statement 45.
For the FRFH, the City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost
contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB asset for fiscal year 2015-16 and the three preceding
years were as follows:
Fiscal Year
Ended
6/30/2013
6/30/2014
6/30/2015
6/30/2016

Percentage of
Annual OPEB
Contributed
95%
96
100
98

Annual OPEB Cost
$729,963
829,699
864,975
853,748

Net OPEB
Asset
$(38,397)
(4,948)
(2,383)
12,362

The funded status of the FRFH as of July 1, 2016, the date of the most recent actuarial
report, is set forth below:
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Actuarial
Accrued
Actuarial
Actuarial
Liability
Valuation
Value of
(AAL)-Unit
Date
Assets
Credit
Berkeley Fire Employees Retiree Health Plan (FRHF)
7/1/2016
$9,409,766
$25,274,305

Unfunded
Actuarial
Accrued
LiabilityUAAL

Funded
Ratio

$15,864,539

37.2%

Covered
Payroll

UAAL
as
Percentage
of covered
Payroll

$14,714,000

107.8%

The actuarial value of the assets in the FRFH as of July 1, 2016 was equal to their market
value.
City of Berkeley Miscellaneous Employees Retiree Health Premium Assistance
Plan. The RHPAP is a single-employer defined benefit medical plan. It provides retiree health
benefits to eligible retirees and his/her spouse or domestic partner. The establishment and
amendments of benefit provisions are negotiated between the employee bargaining units and the
City, and are approved by the City Council.
Retirees who are at least age 50, with at least 8 years of service with the City at the time
of separation from service are eligible to receive retiree health benefits commencing at age 55.
Benefits are payable for the retiree’s lifetime and continue for his or her covered
spouse’s/domestic partner’s lifetime. The City pays the monthly cost of the monthly premiums up
to a participant’s applicable percentage of the base dollar amount and subject to annual 4.5%
increases regardless of the amount of increase in the underlying premium rate. As of July 1, 2016,
there were 1,021 active employees.
The City’s targeted funding policy is equal to the normal cost for active employees plus an
amount to amortize unfunded liabilities over 30 years as a level percentage of payrolls. The City
is required to contribute the annual required contribution of the employer (ARC), an amount
actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 45. Any changes
to the contribution requirements of the plan are negotiated by the bargaining units and City
negotiating staff, and approved by the City Council.
For the RHPAP, the City’s annual OPEB cost, the percentage of annual OPEB cost
contributed to the plan, and the net OPEB obligation for fiscal year 2015-16 and the three
preceding years were as follows:
Fiscal Year
Ended
6/30/2013
6/30/2014
6/30/2015
6/30/2016

Percentage of
Annual OPEB
Contributed
62.9%
51.0
41.0
52.0

Annual
OPEB Cost
$3,122,564
3,574,421
3,785,359
3,492,010

Net OPEB
Obligation
$3,375,598
5,126,082
7,367,230
9,050,063

The funded status of the RHPAP as of July 1, 2016, the most recent actuarial report, is
set forth below:
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Unfunded
Actuarial
Actuarial
Actuarial
Accrued
Actuarial
Accrued
Valuation
Liability
Value of
LiabilityDate
(AAL)
Assets
UAAL
Berkeley Miscellaneous Employees Retiree Health Plan (RHPAP)
7/1/2016
$55,629,654
$21,019,439
$34,610,215

Funded
Ratio
37.8%

Covered
Payroll
$90,188,000

UAAL
as
Percentage
of covered
Payroll
38.4%

The actuarial value of the assets in the RHPAP as of July 1, 2016 was equal to their market
value.
Police Retiree Premium Assistance Plan. Effective September 19, 2012, the City
replaced the “Berkeley Police Retirement Income Benefit Plan” with the “Retiree Health Premium
Assistance Coverage Plan” for any police employees hired on or after that date, as well as any
current employees who retire on or after such date. Under the newly established retiree health
premium assistance plan, benefits will be the paid by the City directly to the provider who is
providing retiree health coverage to the retiree or his or her surviving spouse. The maximum
amount will be equal in value to the City sponsored health plan.
In order to be eligible for the Retiree Health Premium Assistance Coverage a “Retiree”
must meet all of the following criteria:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

A person who is vested in, and
Has reached the age of 50, and
Has retired from the City at age 50 or thereafter, and
Has applied for and is receiving a pension from at the time of retirement.

The maximum amount the City will contribute toward the payment of medical insurance
premiums is based on the employee’s years of service as a sworn member of the Berkeley Police
Department at time of retirement. The retiree must have at least 10 years of service as a sworn
member of the Berkeley Police Department to qualify for this benefit.
Years of Service
10 to 14
15 to 19
20 or more

City Percentage
25%
50
100

Either the single party or two-party amount
Either the single party or two-party amount
Either the single party or two-party amount

Beginning September 19, 2012, each month after the employee retires the City will pay
the health care service provider an appropriate percentage based on years of service above an
amount equal to $1,200 per month for two-party coverage for the retiree and a qualifying
spouse/domestic partner or $600 per month for single party coverage. Upon death of either the
retiree or the retiree’s spouse, the City will only pay the appropriate percentage of the single party
rate to the provider on behalf of the surviving retiree or spouse/domestic partner. If there is no
spouse/domestic partner at the time of retirement, the City shall only pay the single party rate.
The retiree and/or surviving spouse/domestic partner will be responsible for payment of the
difference between the amount the City contributes toward payment of the premium and the actual
premium cost. The funds for this difference will come from the retirees retirement account and the
retiree must authorize such withdrawal of funds.
Beginning July 1, 2013 and effective each July 1 thereafter, the base rates the City
contributes toward payment of the premium amount described in the preceding paragraph shall
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be increased by either the amount Kaiser increases the retiree medical premium for that year, or
6%, whichever is less. The retiree and/or surviving spouse/domestic partner shall pay the
difference between the amount the City contributes toward payment of the premium and the actual
premium cost. As of July 1, 2015, there were 165 active employees and 5 retirees.
The following shows the calculation of the Annual Required Contribution for FY 2015-16:
Normal Cost at Year End
Amortization of UAAL
Annual Required Contribution (ARC)

Amount
$3,489,250
2,474,831
$5,964,081

The actuarial cost method used for determining the benefit obligations is the Projected
Unit Credit Cost Method. Under this method, the actuarial present value of projected benefits is
the value of benefits expected to be paid for current actives and retirees and is calculated based
on the assumptions and census data described this report. The Actuarial Accrued Liability (AAL)
is the actuarial present value of benefits attributed to employee service rendered prior to the
valuation date. The AAL equals the present value of benefits multiplied by a fraction equal to
service to data over service at expected retirement. The Normal Cost is the actuarial present
value of benefits attributed to one year of service. This equals the present value of benefits divided
by service at expected retirement. Since retirees are not accruing any more service, their normal
cost is zero. In determining the Annual Required Contribution, the Unfunded AAL is amortized as
a level percentage of payroll over 30 years.
As of July 1, 2016, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 3.2% funded.
The actuarial accrued liability for benefit was $41.0 million, and the actuarial value of assets was
$1.3 million, resulting in an unfunded accrued liability of $39.7 million. The fair value of the assets
was determined using market values as of the date of the actuarial report. The schedule of funding
progress, presented as required supplementary information following the notes to the financial
statements, presents multi-year trend information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets
is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued liabilities for benefits.
Funded stats of the plan as of July 1, 2016, the most recent actuarial valuation date is as follows:
Actuarial
Accrued
Actuarial
Actuarial
Liability
Valuation
Value of
(AAL)-Unit
Date
Assets
Credit
Berkeley Police Employees Retiree Premium Assistance Plan
7/1/2016
$1,312,820
$41,027,517

Unfunded
Actuarial
Accrued
LiabilityUAAL

Funded
Ratio

$39,714,697

3.20%

Covered
Payroll

UAAL
as
Percentage
of covered
Payroll

$20,610,000

Defined Contribution Plans
The City offers certain supplemental retirement and income plans to retirees. See
Appendix B, Note IV(C) for information about the City’s defined contribution plans.
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Labor Relations
As of May 1, 2017, the City employed approximately 1,299 full-time equivalent budgeted
employees. There are seven employee unions as shown below. In addition, the City employs
approximately 118 unrepresented Executive Management, Confidential professional or
Confidential Office support positions. The City has not experienced any work stoppages or strikes
by its employees.
CITY OF BERKELEY
Labor Relations
Labor Organization

Employees

Berkeley Fire Fighters Association/I.A.F.F. Local 1227
Berkeley Police Association
I. B. E. W. Local 1245
Service Employees International Local 1021
Maintenance and Clerical Chapters
Service Employees International Local 1021
Community Services and Part-Time Recreation
Leaders Association Chapters
Public Employees Local 1
Unrepresented Employees

Contract Expiration
Date

6
123
159
12

June 17, 2017(1)
June 30, 2017(1)
June 17, 2017(1)
June 16, 2018

421

October 20, 2018

309
151

October 29, 2018
None

(1)
Terms of contract remain in effect after expiration until new contract becomes effective.
Source: City of Berkeley

Risk Management
The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, or restriction
of assets; errors or omissions; injuries to employees; or acts of God.
The City is self-insured for liability claims below $350,000. The City is a member of the
Bay Cities Joint Powers Insurance Authority (“BCJPIA”). The BCJPIA consists of 20 municipal or
public agency members, all located within the metropolitan San Francisco Bay Area. The BCJPIA
provides general liability, auto liability, and errors and omissions coverage between $350,000 and
$1,000,000. The California Affiliated Risk Management Authority (“CARMA”) provides additional
coverage to the BCJPIA and its member entities for claims in excess of $1,000,000, up to
$29,000,000.
The City is self-insured for workers’ compensation. Payments are made to the Workers’
Compensation Self-Insurance Internal Service Fund by transfers from the City’s general fund and
other funds of the City on a pay-as-you-go basis.
The City requires pre-employment physical examinations for high risk, high hazard
employees as well as annual examination for all uniformed officers. As part of its workers’
compensation program, copies of all injured employee medical reports are monitored by a thirdparty agent to ensure that injured employees receive proper care.
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Existing General Fund Obligations
Short-Term Obligations. The City has issued Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes
(“TRANs”) in each recent year. The City’s TRANs are a general obligation of the City, payable
from the City’s General Fund and any other lawfully available moneys. The fiscal year 2016-17
TRANs mature on July 27, 2017.
Long-Term Obligations. The City currently has outstanding long-term general fund debt
and lease obligations described below. The City has never defaulted on the payment of principal
of or interest on any of its indebtedness.
Certificates of Participation. In June 2010, The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., executed and delivered certificates of participation on behalf of the City
in the aggregate principal amount of $5,750,000. The City’s underlying rental obligation is
a general obligation payable from any available funds of the City. The certificates bear
interest at rates between 3.00%-5.75% and the final maturity date is August 1, 2040. As
of the date of this Official Statement, the principal balance outstanding was $5,235,000.
Lease Revenue Bonds. In October 2012, the Berkeley Joint Powers Financing
Authority (the “Authority”) issued lease revenue bonds on behalf of the City in the
aggregate principal amount of $27,260,000 to refund the Authority’s 1999 Lease Revenue
Bonds and 2003 Certificates of Participation. The City’s underlying rental obligation is a
general fund obligation of the City. The bonds bear interest at rates between 3.00%5.00%, and the final maturity date is October 1, 2031. As of the date of this Official
Statement, the principal balance outstanding was $23,030,000.
Pension Obligation Bonds. In May 1998, the City issued pension obligation
refunding bonds in the aggregate principal amount of $12,415,000 to refund the City’s
certificates of participation issued in February 1989. The certificates were sold to satisfy a
portion of the City’s obligations under an ordinance adopted to provide payments to the
Safety Members Pension Fund. The bonds bear an interest rate of 5.00% and the final
maturity date is June 1, 2018. As of the date of this Official Statement, the principal
balance outstanding was $250,000. The obligation to repay the bonds is a general fund
obligation of the City.
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Statement of Direct and Overlapping Debt
The ability of land owners within the City to pay property tax installments as they come
due could be affected by the existence of other taxes and assessments imposed upon the land.
The statement of direct and overlapping debt (the “Debt Report”) set forth below was
prepared by California Municipal Statistics, Inc. as of May 1, 2017. The Debt Report includes only
such information as has been reported to California Municipal Statistics, Inc. by the issuers of the
debt described therein and by others. The Debt Report is included for general information
purposes only. The City takes no responsibility for its completeness or accuracy.
Direct and Overlapping Bonded Debt
(As of May 1, 2017)
2016-17 Assessed Valuation: $17,029,208,422
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT:
Bay Area Rapid Transit District
East Bay Municipal Utility District, Special District No. 1
Peralta Community College District
Berkeley Unified School District
City of Berkeley
City of Berkeley Community Facilities District No. 1
East Bay Regional Park District
City of Berkeley Thousand Oaks Heights AFUU Assessment District
TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING TAX AND ASSESSMENT DEBT
DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND DEBT:
Alameda County and Coliseum Obligations
Alameda County Pension Obligation Bonds
Alameda-Contra Costa Transit District Certificates of Participation
Peralta Community College District Pension Obligation Bonds
City of Berkeley Lease Revenue Bonds and Certificates of Participation
City of Berkeley Pension Obligations
TOTAL DIRECT AND OVERLAPPING GENERAL FUND DEBT
COMBINED TOTAL DEBT

% Applicable
Debt 5/1/17
2.636% $ 15,820,745
17.475
614,246
18.775
74,063,620
99.997
250,787,476
100.000
86,465,000
100.000
3,355,000
4.066
5,025,169
100.000 1,130,000
$437,261,256
6.702%
6.702
7.937
18.775
100.000
100.000

$ 57,446,159
1,857,760
1,398,896
29,972,006
28,265,000 (1)
520,000
$119,459,821
$556,721,077

(2)

Ratios to 2016-17 Assessed Valuation:
Direct Debt ($86,465,000) .............................................................0.51%
Total Direct and Overlapping Tax and Assessment Debt................2.57%
Combined Direct Debt ($115,250,000) ........................................0.68%
Combined Total Debt.......................................................................3.27%
(1) Excludes issue to be sold.
(2) Excludes tax and revenue anticipation notes, enterprise revenue, mortgage revenue and non-bonded capital lease obligations.
Source: California Municipal Statistics, Inc.
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Employment
The unemployment rate in the Oakland- Hayward-Berkeley MD was 3.9 percent in March
2017, down from a revised 4.0 percent in February 2017, and below the year-ago estimate of 4.5
percent. This compares with an unadjusted unemployment rate of 5.1 percent for California and
4.6 percent for the nation during the same period. The unemployment rate was 3.9 percent in the
County and 4.1 percent in Contra Costa County.
The table below list employment by industry group for Alameda and Contra Costa
Counties for the years 2012 to 2016.
OAKLAND- HAYWARD-BERKELEY MD
(Alameda and Contra Costa Counties)
Annual Averages Civilian Labor Force, Employment and Unemployment,
Employment by Industry
(March 2016 Benchmark)
2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

Civilian Labor Force
Employment
Unemployment
Unemployment Rate
Wage and Salary Employment: (2)
Agriculture
Mining and Logging
Construction
Manufacturing
Wholesale Trade
Retail Trade
Transportation, Warehousing, Utilities
Information
Finance and Insurance
Real Estate and Rental and Leasing
Professional and Business Services
Educational and Health Services
Leisure and Hospitality
Other Services
Federal Government
State Government
Local Government

1,336,300
1,218,700
117,500
8.8%

1,344,100
1,245,500
98,600
7.3%

1,355,600
1,275,000
80,600
5.9%

1,374,800
1,308,100
66,700
4.8%

1,394,400
1,334,200
60,200
4.3%

1,500
900
52,000
79,900
43,700
104,100
32,900
22,100
33,400
15,400
166,500
164,700
91,800
36,400
14,200
38,500
110,100

1,400
900
56,400
80,100
45,200
107,700
33,500
21,500
33,500
16,200
173,400
170,500
97,200
37,000
13,800
38,900
110,600

1,300
800
58,600
82,800
46,200
109,900
35,600
21,300
32,600
16,800
178,800
173,100
102,100
37,500
13,800
39,300
113,400

1,200
900
62,400
86,600
47,600
113,000
38,300
22,400
32,800
16,800
183,000
178,400
106,300
38,000
13,800
39,800
115,200

1,300
900
67,500
89,900
49,000
115,000
38,700
26,400
40,300
17,000
180,800
184,900
111,400
39,200
13,900
39,800
120,200

Total, All Industries (3)

1,008,000

1,037,500

1,063,600

1,096,300

1,136,100

(1)

(1) Labor force data is by place of residence; includes self-employed individuals, unpaid family workers, household
domestic workers, and workers on strike.
(2) Industry employment is by place of work; excludes self-employed individuals, unpaid family workers, household
domestic workers, and workers on strike.
(3) Totals may not add due to rounding.
Source: State of California Employment Development Department.
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The following tables show the major employers in the City and the County.
CITY OF BERKELEY
Major Employers
2016
Employer
University of California Berkeley
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory
Sutter East Bay Hospitals
Berkeley Unified School District
Bayer Corporation
City of Berkeley
Siemens Corporation
Kaiser Permanente Medical Group
Berkeley Bowl Produce
FHR Claremont Hotel Management Comp

Number of
Employees
14,983
3,363
2,117
1,682
1,462
1,353
765
629
597
514

% of Total
Employment
22.30%
5.01
3.15
2.50
2.18
2.01
1.14
0.94
0.89
0.77

Source: City of Berkeley, Comprehensive Annual Financial Report for the Fiscal Year Ended
June 30, 2016.

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank]
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COUNTY OF ALAMEDA
Major Employers (Listed Alphabetically)
2017
Employer Name
Alameda County Law Enforcement
Alameda County Sheriff's Ofc
Alameda Health System
Alta Bates Summit Medical Ctr
Alta Bates Summit Medical Ctr
Bayer Health Care
California State-East Bay
Children's Hosp & Research Ctr
Coopervision Inc Advanced
Dell EMC
East Bay Water
Highland Hospital
Kaiser Oakland
Life Scan Inc
Merritt Pavilion Lab
Oakland Police Patrol Div
Residntial Stdents Svc Program
Safeway Inc
Tesla Motors
Transportation Dept-California
University of Ca-Berkeley
University of CA-BERKELEY
Valley Care Health System
Washington Hosp Healthcare Sys
Western Digital Corp

Location
Oakland
Oakland
San Leandro
Berkeley
Oakland
Berkeley
Hayward
Oakland
Pleasanton
Pleasanton
Oakland
Oakland
Oakland
Fremont
Oakland
Oakland
Berkeley
Pleasanton
Fremont
Oakland
Berkeley
Berkeley
Livermore
Fremont
Fremont

Industry
Government Offices-County
Government Offices-County
Health Care Management
Hospitals
Hospitals
Laboratories-Pharmaceutical (mfrs)
Schools-Universities & Colleges Academic
Hospitals
Optical Goods-Wholesale
Computer Software
Transit Lines
Hospitals
Health Services
Physicians & Surgeons Equip & Supls-Mfrs
Laboratories-Medical
Police Departments
Schools-Universities & Colleges Academic
Grocers-Retail
Automobile Dealers-Electric Cars
Government Offices-State
Schools-Universities & Colleges Academic
Schools-Universities & Colleges Academic
Health Services
Hospitals
Electronic Equipment & Supplies-Mfrs

Source: State of California Employment Development Department, extracted from The America's Labor Market
Information System (ALMIS) Employer Database, 2017 2nd Edition.

Effective Buying Income
“Effective Buying Income” is defined as personal income less personal tax and nontax
payments, a number often referred to as “disposable” or “after-tax” income. Personal income is
the aggregate of wages and salaries, other labor-related income (such as employer contributions
to private pension funds), proprietor’s income, rental income (which includes imputed rental
income of owner-occupants of non-farm dwellings), dividends paid by corporations, interest
income from all sources, and transfer payments (such as pensions and welfare assistance).
Deducted from this total are personal taxes (federal, state and local), nontax payments (fines,
fees, penalties, etc.) and personal contributions to social insurance. According to U.S.
government definitions, the resultant figure is commonly known as “disposable personal income.”
The following table summarizes the total effective buying income for the City of Berkeley,
the County of Alameda, the State and the United States for the period 2012 through 2016.
CITY OF BERKELEY AND COUNTY OF ALAMEDA
Effective Buying Income
As of January 1, 2012 through 2016
Total Effective
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Berkeley
Alameda County
California
United States

Buying Income
(000’s Omitted)
$3,581,245
43,677,855
864,088,828
6,737,867,730

2013

Berkeley
Alameda County
California
United States

$3,513,983
43,770,518
858,676,636
6,982,757,379

$48,301
57,467
48,340
43,715

2014

Berkeley
Alameda County
California
United States

$3,909,548
47,744,408
901,189,699
7,357,153,421

$52,592
60,575
50,072
45,448

2015

Berkeley
Alameda County
California
United States

$4,264,478
52,448,661
981,231,666
7,757,960,399

$56,194
64,030
53,589
46,738

2016

Berkeley
Alameda County
California
United States

$4,618,113
56,091,066
1,036,142,723
8,132,748,136

$59,958
67,631
55,681
48,043

Year
2012

Area

Effective Buying
Income
$46,898
55,396
47,307
41,358

Source: The Nielsen Company (US), Inc.

Construction Activity
Provided below are the building permits and valuations for the City of Berkeley for calendar
years 2011 through 2015. Annual figures are not yet available for calendar year 2016.
CITY OF BERKELEY
Total Building Permit Valuations
(Valuations in Thousands)
2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

Permit Valuation
New Single-family
New Multi-family
Res. Alterations/Additions
Total Residential

$1,150.3
4,500.0
33,936.8
39,587.1

$1,382.3
12,100.0
35,020.5
48,502.8

$3,462.0
6,261.7
37,857.3
47,581.0

$5,453.0
23,757.6
53,835.6
82,946.2

$2,995.0
53,876.1
52,549.5
109,420.6

New Commercial
New Industrial
New Other
Com. Alterations/Additions
Total Nonresidential

693.5
0.0
65.0
43,056.9
43,815.4

7,744.6
110.0
0.0
30,095.7
37,950.3

8,689.9
0.0
1823.6
37688.6
48,202.1

31,152.1
0.0
12,156.5
46,571.3
89,779.9

20,246.9
0.0
7,770.1
44,962.7
72,979.7

15
249
264

6
459
465

New Dwelling Units
Single Family
Multiple Family
TOTAL

4
38
42

4
94
98

Source: Construction Industry Research Board, Building Permit Summary.
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APPENDIX B
THE CITY’S COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT
FOR YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016
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APPENDIX C
FORM OF OPINION OF BOND COUNSEL
[LETTERHEAD OF JONES HALL]

_____, 2017

City Council
City of Berkeley
2180 Milvia Street
Berkeley, California 94704
OPINION:

$________ City of Berkeley, California 2017-18 Tax and Revenue
Anticipation Notes

Members of the City Council:
We have acted as bond counsel in connection with the issuance by the City of Berkeley,
California (the “City”), of $_________ City of Berkeley, California 2017-18 Tax and Revenue
Anticipation Notes, dated the date hereof (the “Notes”), pursuant to Article 7.6 (commencing with
Section 53850) of Chapter 4, Part 1, Division 2, Title 5 of the California Government Code (the
“Act”), and a resolution of the City, adopted on July 25, 2017 (the “Resolution”). We have
examined the law and such certified proceedings and other papers as we deem necessary to
render this opinion.
As to questions of fact material to our opinion, we have relied upon representations of the
City contained in the Resolution and in the certified proceedings of public officials and others
furnished to us, without undertaking to verify such facts by independent investigation.
Based upon our examination, we are of the opinion, under existing law, as follows:
1.
The City is a duly created and validly existing municipal corporation with the power
to adopt the Resolution, to perform the agreements on its part contained therein and to issue the
Notes.
2.
The Resolution has been duly adopted by the City and constitutes a valid and
binding obligation of the City enforceable upon the City.
3.
Pursuant to the Act, the Resolution creates a first lien on funds pledged by the
Resolution for the security of the Notes.
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4.
The Notes have been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the City and are
valid and binding general obligations of the City.
5.
The interest on the Notes is excluded from gross income for federal income tax
purposes and is not an item of tax preference for purposes of the federal alternative minimum tax
imposed on individuals and corporations; it should be noted, however, that, for the purpose of
computing the alternative minimum tax imposed on corporations (as defined for federal income
tax purposes), such interest is taken into account in determining certain income and earnings.
The opinion set forth in the preceding sentence is subject to the condition that the City comply
with all requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), that must be satisfied
subsequent to the issuance of the Notes in order that interest thereon be, or continue to be,
excluded from gross income for federal income tax purposes. The City has covenanted to comply
with each such requirement. Failure to comply with certain of such requirements may cause the
inclusion of interest on the Notes in gross income for federal income tax purposes to be retroactive
to the date of issuance of the Notes. We express no opinion regarding other federal tax
consequences arising with respect to the Notes.
6.
The interest on the Notes is exempt from personal income taxation imposed by the
State of California.
The rights of the owners of the Notes and the enforceability of the Notes and the
Resolution may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization, moratorium and other
similar laws affecting creditors’ rights heretofore or hereafter enacted and may also be subject to
the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate cases.
Respectfully submitted,

A Professional Law Corporation
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APPENDIX D
FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE CERTIFICATE
This Continuing Disclosure Certificate (the “Disclosure Certificate”) is executed and
delivered by the City of Berkeley (the “City”) in connection with the issuance by the City, of the
$_________ City of Berkeley 2017-18 Tax and Revenue Anticipation Notes (the “Notes”). The
Notes are being issued pursuant to a resolution adopted by the City Council of the City on July
25, 2017 (the “Resolution”). The City covenants and agrees as follows:
Section 1. Purpose of the Disclosure Certificate. This Disclosure Certificate is being
executed and delivered by the City for the benefit of the holders and beneficial owners of the
Notes and in order to assist the Participating Underwriters in complying with S.E.C. Rule 15c212(b)(5).
Section 2. Definitions. In addition to the definitions set forth in the Resolution, which apply
to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure Certificate unless otherwise defined in this Section,
the following capitalized terms shall have the following meanings:
“Dissemination Agent” shall mean NHA Advisors, LLC, or any successor Dissemination
Agent designated in writing by the City and which has filed with the City a written acceptance of
such designation.
“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 3(a) of this Disclosure
Certificate.
“MSRB” means the Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board, which has been designated by
the Securities and Exchange Commission as the sole repository of disclosure information for
purposes of the Rule.
“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Notes
required to comply with the Rule in connection with offering of the Notes.
“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time.
Section 3. Reporting of Significant Events.
(a)
Pursuant to the provisions of this Section 3, the City shall give, or cause to be
given, notice of the occurrence of any of the following Listed Events with respect to the Notes:
(1)

Principal and interest payment delinquencies.

(2)

Non-payment related defaults, if material.

(3)

Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties.

(4)

Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties.

(5)

Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform.
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(6)

Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of
proposed or final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue
(IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other material notices or determinations with
respect to the tax status of the security, or other material events affecting
the tax status of the security.

(7)

Modifications to rights of security holders, if material.

(8)

Bond calls, if material, and tender offers.

(9)

Defeasances.

(10)

Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the
securities, if material.

(11)

Rating changes.

(12)

Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the City or other
obligated person.

(13)

The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the
City or an obligated person, or the sale of all or substantially all of the assets
of the City or an obligated person (other than in the ordinary course of
business), the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an
action, or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such
actions, other than pursuant to its terms, if material.

(14)

Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of
a trustee, if material.

(b)
Whenever the City obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event, the City
shall, or shall cause the Dissemination Agent (if not the City) to, file a notice of such occurrence
with the MSRB, in an electronic format as prescribed by the MSRB, in a timely manner not in
excess of 10 business days after the occurrence of the Listed Event. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, notice of Listed Events described in subsections (a)(8) and (9) above need not be given
under this subsection any earlier than the notice (if any) of the underlying event is given to holders
of affected Notes under the Resolution.
(c)
The City acknowledges that the events described in subparagraphs (a)(2), (a)(7),
(a)(8) (if the event is a bond call), (a)(10), (a)(13), and (a)(14) of this Section 3 contain the qualifier
“if material.” The City shall cause a notice to be filed as set forth in paragraph (b) above with
respect to any such event only to the extent that the City determines the event’s occurrence is
material for purposes of U.S. federal securities law.
(d)
For purposes of this Disclosure Certificate, any event described in paragraph
(a)(12) above is considered to occur when any of the following occur: the appointment of a
receiver, fiscal agent, or similar officer for the City in a proceeding under the United States
Bankruptcy Code or in any other proceeding under state or federal law in which a court or
governmental authority has assumed jurisdiction over substantially all of the assets or business
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of the City, or if such jurisdiction has been assumed by leaving the existing governing body and
officials or officers in possession but subject to the supervision and orders of a court or
governmental authority, or the entry of an order confirming a plan of reorganization, arrangement,
or liquidation by a court or governmental authority having supervision or jurisdiction over
substantially all of the assets or business of the City.
Section 4. Termination of Reporting Obligation. The City’s obligations under this Disclosure
Certificate shall terminate upon the legal defeasance, prior redemption or payment in full of all of
the Notes. If such termination occurs prior to the final maturity of the Notes, the City shall give
notice of such termination in the same manner as for a Listed Event under Section 3(c).
Section 5. Dissemination Agent. The City may, from time to time, appoint or engage a
Dissemination Agent to assist it in carrying out its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate,
and may discharge any such Agent, with or without appointing a successor Dissemination Agent.
The initial Dissemination Agent shall be NHA Advisors, LLC.
Section 6. Amendment; Waiver. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Disclosure
Certificate, the City may amend this Disclosure Certificate, and any provision of this Disclosure
Certificate may be waived, provided that the following conditions are satisfied:
(a)
if the amendment or waiver relates to the provisions of Section 3(a) it may only be
made in connection with a change in circumstances that arises from a change in legal
requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of an obligated person
with respect to the Notes, or type of business conducted;
(b)
the undertakings herein, as proposed to be amended or waived, would, in the
opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, have complied with the requirements of the Rule
at the time of the primary offering of the Notes, after taking into account any amendments or
interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and
(c)
the proposed amendment or waiver either (i) is approved by holders of the Notes,
or (ii) does not, in the opinion of nationally recognized bond counsel, materially impair the interests
of the holders or beneficial owners of the Notes.
Section 7. Additional Information. Nothing in this Disclosure Certificate shall be deemed to
prevent the City from disseminating any other information, using the means of dissemination set
forth in this Disclosure Certificate or any other means of communication, or including any other
information in any notice of occurrence of a Listed Event, in addition to that which is required by
this Disclosure Certificate. If the City chooses to include any information in any notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure
Certificate, the City shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Certificate to update such
information or include it in any future notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.
Section 8. Default. In the event of a failure of the City to comply with any provision of this
Disclosure Certificate any holder or beneficial owner of the Notes may take such actions as may
be necessary and appropriate, including seeking mandate or specific performance by court order,
to cause the City to comply with its obligations under this Disclosure Certificate. A default under
this Disclosure Certificate shall not be deemed an Event of Default under the Resolution, and the
sole remedy under this Disclosure Certificate in the event of any failure of the City to comply with
this Disclosure Certificate shall be an action to compel performance.
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Section 9. Duties, Immunities and Liabilities of Dissemination Agent. The Dissemination
Agent shall have only such duties as are specifically set forth in this Disclosure Certificate, and
the City agrees to indemnify and save the Dissemination Agent, its officers, directors, employees
and agents, harmless against any loss, expense and liabilities which it may incur arising out of or
in the exercise or performance of its powers and duties hereunder, including the costs and
expenses (including attorneys’ fees) of defending against any claim of liability, but excluding
liabilities due to the Dissemination Agent’s negligence or willful misconduct. The obligations of
the City under this Section shall survive resignation or removal of the Dissemination Agent and
payment of the Notes.
Section 10. Beneficiaries. This Disclosure Certificate shall inure solely to the benefit of the
City, the Dissemination Agent, the Participating Underwriters and holders and beneficial owners
from time to time of the Notes, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.
Date: _______, 2017
CITY OF BERKELEY

By
City Manager
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APPENDIX E
DTC AND THE BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM
The following description of the Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), the procedures and
record keeping with respect to beneficial ownership interests in the Notes, payment of principal,
interest and other payments on the Notes to DTC Participants or Beneficial Owners, confirmation
and transfer of beneficial ownership interest in the Notes and other related transactions by and
between DTC, the DTC Participants and the Beneficial Owners is based solely on information
provided by DTC. Accordingly, no representations can be made concerning these matters and
neither the DTC Participants nor the Beneficial Owners should rely on the foregoing information
with respect to such matters, but should instead confirm the same with DTC or the DTC
Participants, as the case may be.
Neither the issuer of the Notes (the “Issuer”) nor the trustee, fiscal agent or paying agent
appointed with respect to the Notes (the “Agent”) take any responsibility for the information
contained in this Appendix.
No assurances can be given that DTC, DTC Participants or Indirect Participants will
distribute to the Beneficial Owners (a) payments of interest, principal or premium, if any, with
respect to the Notes, (b) certificates representing ownership interest in or other confirmation or
ownership interest in the Notes, or (c) redemption or other notices sent to DTC or Cede & Co., its
nominee, as the registered owner of the Notes, or that they will so do on a timely basis, or that
DTC, DTC Participants or DTC Indirect Participants will act in the manner described in this
Appendix. The current "Rules" applicable to DTC are on file with the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the current "Procedures" of DTC to be followed in dealing with DTC Participants
are on file with DTC.
1. The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, NY, will act as securities depository
for the securities (the “Securities”). The Securities will be issued as fully-registered securities
registered in the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may
be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. One fully-registered Security certificate will
be issued for each issue of the Securities, each in the aggregate principal amount of such issue,
and will be deposited with DTC. If, however, the aggregate principal amount of any issue exceeds
$500 million, one certificate will be issued with respect to each $500 million of principal amount,
and an additional certificate will be issued with respect to any remaining principal amount of such
issue.
2. DTC, the world’s largest securities depository, is a limited-purpose trust company
organized under the New York Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the
New York Banking Law, a member of the Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within
the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code, and a “clearing agency” registered
pursuant to the provisions of Section 17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC holds and
provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate
and municipal debt issues, and money market instruments (from over 100 countries) that DTC’s
participants (“Direct Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade
settlement among Direct Participants of sales and other securities transactions in deposited
securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and pledges between Direct
Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities certificates.
Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
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companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of The Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding
company for DTC, National Securities Clearing Corporation and Fixed Income Clearing
Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its
regulated subsidiaries. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both U.S.
and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations
that clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or
indirectly (“Indirect Participants”). DTC has a Standard & Poor’s rating of AA+. The DTC Rules
applicable to its Participants are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More
information about DTC can be found at www.dtcc.com.
3. Purchases of Securities under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct
Participants, which will receive a credit for the Securities on DTC’s records. The ownership
interest of each actual purchaser of each Security (“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded
on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners will not receive written
confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to receive
written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their
holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into
the transaction. Transfers of ownership interests in the Securities are to be accomplished by
entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial
Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their ownership interests in
Securities, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Securities is discontinued.
4. To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Securities deposited by Direct Participants with
DTC are registered in the name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co. or such other name
as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. The deposit of Securities with DTC
and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such other DTC nominee do not effect any
change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the
Securities; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts
such Securities are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and
Indirect Participants will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their
customers.
5. Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by
Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to
Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Beneficial Owners of Securities
may wish to take certain steps to augment the transmission to them of notices of significant events
with respect to the Securities, such as redemptions, tenders, defaults, and proposed amendments
to the Security documents. For example, Beneficial Owners of Securities may wish to ascertain
that the nominee holding the Securities for their benefit has agreed to obtain and transmit notices
to Beneficial Owners. In the alternative, Beneficial Owners may wish to provide their names and
addresses to the registrar and request that copies of notices be provided directly to them.
6. Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Securities within an
issue are being redeemed, DTC’s practice is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each
Direct Participant in such issue to be redeemed.
7. Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor such other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with
respect to Securities unless authorized by a Direct Participant in accordance with DTC’s MMI
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Procedures. Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to Issuer as soon as
possible after the record date. The Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting
rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts Securities are credited on the record date
(identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).
8. Redemption proceeds, distributions, and interest payments on the Securities will be
made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative
of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts, upon DTC’s receipt of funds and
corresponding detail information from Issuer or Agent on payable date in accordance with their
respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Participants to Beneficial Owners will
be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities held
for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the
responsibility of such Participant and not of DTC, Agent, or Issuer, subject to any statutory or
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of redemption proceeds,
distributions, and dividend payments to Cede & Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested
by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of Issuer or Agent, disbursement of
such payments to Direct Participants will be the responsibility of DTC, and disbursement of such
payments to the Beneficial Owners will be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect Participants.
9. DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities depository with respect to the
Securities at any time by giving reasonable notice to Issuer or Agent. Under such circumstances,
in the event that a successor depository is not obtained, Security certificates are required to be
printed and delivered.
10. Issuer may decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry-only transfers
through DTC (or a successor securities depository). In that event, Security certificates will be
printed and delivered to DTC.
11. The information in this section concerning DTC and DTC’s book-entry system has
been obtained from sources that Issuer believes to be reliable, but Issuer takes no responsibility
for the accuracy thereof.
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